Dissertationes Forestales 363

Interactions between forest pest outbreaks and environmental characteristics in boreal forests – implications for forest management

Minna Blomqvist

Department of Forest Sciences Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in the Raisio Hall (LS B2), Forest Science Building, Viikki, Latokartanonkaari 7, on 14th March 2025 at 12.

Title of dissertation: Interactions between forest pest outbreaks and environmental characteristics in boreal forests – implications for forest management Author: Minna Blomqvist

Dissertationes Forestales 363 https://doi.org/10.14214/df.363

Thesis Supervisors: Professor Markus Holopainen Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland (Co-supervisor until 11/2021, thereafter a principal supervisor)

Adjunct Professor, Research Manager Päivi Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa National Land Survey of Finland, Finnish Geospatial Research Institute FGI, Finland (Principal supervisor until 11/2021, thereafter a co-supervisor)

Associate Professor Carita Lindstedt-Kareksela Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland (Co-supervisor from 11/2021)

Associate Professor Samuli Junttila Department of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Joensuu, Finland (Co-supervisor from 08/2023)

Pre-examiners:

Professor Christer Björkman, Department of Ecology; S, Forest entomology unit. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden.

Senior researcher Sigrid Netherer, Institute of Forest Entomology, Forest Pathology and Forest Protection. BOKU University.

Opponent:

Senior University Lecturer Tarmo Virtanen, University of Helsinki, Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-816-2 (pdf)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, 00790 Helsinki, Finland https://www.dissertationesforestales.fi **Blomqvist M** (2025) Interactions between forest pest outbreaks and environmental characteristics in boreal forests – implications for forest management. 53 p. Dissertationes Forestales 363. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.363.

ABSTRACT

Boreal forests have faced increasingly severe disturbances caused by insect pests. These disturbances are primarily due to human-induced loss in structural and functional diversity, forest heterogeneity, and changes in temperature and precipitation caused by climate change. In Finland, the intensity of forest insect outbreaks has increased, and many pest insect species have spread further north. More information is needed to understand the specific factors that make forest stands more vulnerable to pest outbreaks. This thesis aims to explore the challenges of forest pest dynamics by examining the interactions between biotic and abiotic factors and their ecological and economic impacts. It focuses on two key pest species: the common pine sawfly (*Diprion pini* L.) and the European spruce bark beetle (*Ips typographus* L.), investigating the triggers of pest outbreaks and their effects on forest ecosystems.

The first study examined the long-term effect of natural enemies on the mortality of *D. pini* during the cocoon stage, finding that forest characteristics, especially nutrient-poor sites, can reduce the effectiveness of natural enemies. The second study identified soil and topographic factors that increase the severity of defoliation by *D. pini*, with more severe damage occurring on flatter, more fertile sites. In the third study, the cumulative effects of prolonged *D. pini* outbreak on Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) radial growth and associated economic losses were quantified, showing significant effects based on defoliation severity. Furthermore, the trees that suffered severe defoliation did not recover to the pre-outbreak increment level during the 10-year study period. The fourth study focused on environmental factors predisposing Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) forests to *I. typographus*. The highest probabilities of severe infestation were linked to eastern aspects, moderately steep slopes, and rich soil fertility.

Overall, these studies show that natural enemy regulation depends on specific stand factors, benefiting the performance of enemy species. Further, certain types of factor combinations could predispose stands to insect-induced disturbances. The key findings of my thesis will help to increase knowledge of factors that can regulate or predispose forest stands to insect-induced forest disturbance. These main outcomes should be considered for future forest management planning.

Keywords: defoliation, economic loss, growth loss, insect outbreak, forest stand factors, natural enemy complex, site fertility, stand susceptibility

Blomqvist M (2025) Interactions between forest pest outbreaks and environmental characteristics in boreal forests – implications for forest management. [Metsien hyönteistuhojen ja ympäristötekijöiden väliset vuorovaikutukset boreaalisissa metsissä – suositukset metsänhoitoon]. 53 p. Dissertationes Forestales 363. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.363.

TIIVISTELMÄ

Tuhohyönteisten aiheuttamat häiriöt ovat lisääntyneet boreaalisissa metsissä viime vuosina. Nämä häiriöt johtuvat ensisijaisesti ihmisen aiheuttamasta monimuotoisuuden vähenemisestä, metsien heterogeenisyydestä sekä ilmastonmuutoksen aiheuttamista lämpötilan ja sademäärien muutoksista. Suomessa metsätuhohyönteisten esiintymistiheys on lisääntynyt ja tuhohyönteislajit ovat levinneet yhä pohjoisemmaksi. Lisätietoa tarvitaan, jotta voidaan ymmärtää mitkä tekijät altistavat metsiköt hyönteistuhoille.

Tämän väitöskirjan tavoitteena oli tutkia metsätuholaisten dynamiikkaa tarkastelemalla bioottisten ja abioottisten tekijöiden välisiä vuorovaikutuksia sekä niiden ekologisia ja taloudellisia vaikutuksia. Väitöskirjassa keskityttiin kahteen taloudellisesti merkittävään hyönteistuholaislajiin: pilkkumäntypistiäiseen (*Diprion pini* L.) ja kirjanpainajaan (*Ips typographus* L.). Tavoitteena oli tutkia ympäristötekijöitä, jotka altistavat metsiä hyönteisten aiheuttamille häiriöille sekä eri bioottisten ja abioottisten tekijöiden välisiä vuorovaikutuksia.

Ensimmäisessä tutkimuksessa selvitettiin miten luontaiset viholliset vaikuttavat pilkkumäntypistiäisen kotelokoppakuolemiin pitkittyneen massaesiintymän aikana. Metsän kasvupaikan niukkaravinteisuus, ominaisuudet, erityisesti näyttävät heikentävän luonnollisten vihollisten tehokkuutta. Toisessa tutkimuksessa selvitettiin mitkä puusto- ja maaperä- sekä metsikön topografiaa kuvaavat tekijät selittävät pilkkumäntypistiäisen aiheuttaman männyn (Pinus sylvestris L.) neulaskadon voimakkuutta. Vakavimmat tuhot esiintyvät maanpinnanmuodoiltaan tasaisimmilla ja maaperätekijöiltään korkeampaan ravinteikkuuteen viittaavilla kasvupaikoilla. Kolmannessa tutkimuksessa mitattiin pilkkumäntypistiäisen massaesiintymän vaikutukset männyn läpimitan kasvuun ja arvioitiin siihen liittyvät taloudelliset menetykset. Selvisi, että pitkittynyt neulaskato aiheuttaa merkittäviäkin kasvutappioita ja tappiot kasvavat neulaskadon voimistuessa. Lisäksi vakavasta neulaskadosta kärsineet puut eivät toipuneet 10 vuoden tutkimusjakson aikana. Neljäs tutkimus keskittyi ympäristötekijöihin, jotka altistavat kuusikot (Picea abies (L.) Karst.) kirjanpainajalle. Suurimmat todennäköisyydet voimakkaille kirjanpainajan aiheuttamille puusto-oireille löytyvät kasvupaikoiltaan ravinteikkailta itään päin avautuvilta ja kohtalaisen jyrkiltä rinteiltä, ohuen maakerroksen tai maaperän korkean hiili/typpi suhteen omaavilta alueilta.

Metsän eri abioottiset ja bioottiset tekijät säätelevät tuholaisten dynamiikkaa ja lisäävät alttiutta tuhohyönteisten aiheuttamille häiriöille metsässä. Väitöskirjani keskeiset havainnot tulisi ottaa huomioon metsänhoitokäytännöissä, jotta tilanteeseen voidaan sopeutua sekä hillitä hyönteisten aiheuttamien häiriöiden vaikutuksia tulevaisuudessa.

Avainsanat: harsuuntuminen, hyönteistuhot, kasvutappiot, taloudelliset tappiot, metsikön kasvupaikkatekijät, luontaiset viholliset, kasvupaikan ravinteikkuus, metsikön alttius

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This has been a very long journey. In 2010, I had already been collecting data for my PhD thesis, but I did not know that yet. In 2012, I was part of my supervisor's project in Lahti. She told me this would be part of your PhD thesis. I did not believe her, and I was like, 'Well, we will see. I do not know if this is my plan.' Well, it was—forest entomological research.

Consequently, I want to point out my most enormous thanks to her, my supervisor, Päivi Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa. Thank you, Päivi, for allowing me to participate in your research, first in Ilomantsi, then in Lahti and Iitti, and finally in Ruokolahti. You have always motivated, encouraged, and infused hope in me during the past years. You always had time to help and guide me, nevertheless, you had tight deadlines.

I want to thank my professor, Markus Holopainen, for always being super supportive and helpful. You helped me, especially at the end phase of the journey, and offered financial support throughout the years. I also want to thank Carita Lindstedt-Kareksela for helping me with the summary part and arranging practical matters at the end of the dissertation project. Thank you; you both were a very important part of this journey.

I want to thank my co-authors; these studies would not have been possible without you. I wish to thank Tuula Kantola for hours of laughter in the office back in the days, field and conference trips. You were priceless, especially at the beginning of my thesis journey: always helping in challenging situations and problems with idiotic software, such as R and ArcGIS, and statistical issues. Maiju Kosunen, I do not know how to thank you. I appreciate your help in the field, flexibility, and endless kindness and friendship, which have become increasingly important to me. I had so much fun with you and always knew that you listened patiently to whatever I had in mind. Mike Starr, thanks for helping me. Regardless of your busy workdays, you provided time to help with soil-related matters. I thank Mervi Talvitie for the fun company in my first fieldwork period in Ilomantsi and for commenting on the first and third studies.

I want to thank Samuli Junttila, who organized the possibility of finishing the dissertation summary while I was working in KOKO Forest. Thank you for being so supportive and providing a valuable opportunity to work on the business side related to monitoring and mapping insect disturbances. Working with these projects has given me much insight into the field. It has been delightful to be a part of the KOKO Forest team. So many warm thanks to the whole dynamic Rastila mansion -team: Samuli, Teemu, Jere, Aki, Mete, Jaakko, Masa, Einari, Antti, Ville, Lauri, Helmi, Janne, and all others who have been around. You rock!

I want to thank Elina Peuhu for hours chatting about work, teaching, research ideas, and everything else. Thanks for your priceless company and friendship during this (never-ending) journey. I also want to thank people at the forest department in Viikki and all the other 'thesis colleges' in the department during the years, especially Mikko Pelto-Arvo, Maija Kymäläinen, Jaana Turunen, Somayeh Alikhani, Titta Majasalmi, Laura Matkala, Lilli Kaarakka, and Teemu Paljakka.

I thank my family and friends: Mom, Jarmo, Dad, Tomi, Kurt, Eija, Kim, Maarit, Mirva, Henna, Laura, Maija, Tuomo, Elina, Tiina, Laura, Suvi and all others. Most of you had no idea what I was doing all this time, but I still think you were on my side in everything, and you were always listening. Thank you all. Oliver, you have given me so much joy and power that I never imagined. You also gave me a proper 2.5-year break during this project, which was needed. Finally, Mika – I have no words to express my gratitude for being a supportive

and positive person with the way you are, always trying to solve problems if I had one. Thank you.

I wish to thank my pre-examinators, Christer Björkman and Sigrid Netherer, for their positive and valuable feedback on the summary part. The language of the summary has been polished and checked using large language models by Grammarly and OpenAI ChatGPT.

Finally, I want to thank all my financial supporters: Maj and Tor Nessling Foundation, Niemi Foundation, Finnish Society of Forest Science, Finnish Cultural Foundation, Societas pro Fauna et Flora Fennica, City of Lahti, Jouko Tuovola Foundation, Societas Entomologica Fennica, AGFOREE Doctoral School at the University of Helsinki and MULTIRISK project funded by Academy of Finland.

PREFACELIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

- I. Blomqvist M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Kantola T, Kosunen M, Talvitie M, Holopainen M (2016). Impacts of natural enemies and stand characteristics on cocoon mortality of the pine sawfly *Diprion pini* in a Fennoscandian boreal forest. Silva Fennica vol. 50 no. 5 article id 1615. 20 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1615
- II. Kosunen M, Kantola T, Starr M, Blomqvist M, Talvitie M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P (2016). Influence of soil and topography on defoliation intensity at an extended outbreak of the common pine sawfly (*Diprion pini* L.). iForest - Biogeosciences and Forestry, 10, 164–171. https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor2069-009
- III. Blomqvist M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Kosunen M, Kantola T, Holopainen, M (2022). Defoliation-induced growth reduction of *Pinus sylvestris* L. after a prolonged outbreak of *Diprion pini* L.—a case study from eastern Finland. Forests 13, 12 p. https://doi.org/10.3390/f13060839
- IV. Blomqvist M, Kosunen M, Starr M, Kantola T, Holopainen M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa T (2018). Modelling the predisposition of Norway spruce to *Ips typographus* L. infestation by means of environmental factors in southern Finland. European Journal of Forest Research 137, 675–691. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-018-1133-0

AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION

Minna Blomqvist (MB) wrote the summary of the dissertation. MB is the main author of papers I, III, and IV, where she was responsible for preparing and analyzing the data, statistical methods, and writing the paper. MB also contributed to the study design of paper IV, but the study designs and studies included in papers I, II, and III were established before MB started her PhD. MB has participated in the data collection for all papers. In paper II, Maiju Kosunen (MK) is the corresponding author, and MB participated in carrying out parts of the fieldwork, assisted in statistical tests, and contributed to the manuscript's writing. Papers II and III have been a part of MK's thesis. Paper II has been added to this dissertation with the permission of co-authors. Detailed statements:

Study I: MB wrote the first draft of the manuscript; she is responsible for preparing and analyzing the data with statistical methods. She collected the data in the field and analyzed collected cocoon data from the last study year. Data from earlier years were collected and analyzed in the laboratory before her contributions by Päivi Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa (PL-S). PL-S designed the study and was responsible for data collection and analysis before 2010. Tuula Kantola (TK), Mervi Talvitie (MT), and MK took part in the data collection. All authors contributed to the manuscript writing.

Study II: MK was the principal author of the manuscript and was in response to the data curation and analyses. MB participated in carrying out parts of the fieldwork by measuring tree-wise data, such as tree diameter and height, visually assessed defoliation percentages of trees, assisted in statistical tests, and wrote and revised manuscript drafts. Mike Starr (MS),

PL-S, and TK planned and supervised the study and contributed to the writing of the original manuscript.

Study III: MB wrote the original draft of the manuscript. She took part in the study design, fieldwork and analyzed the data. TK supervised the analysis and took part in writing the manuscript. MK and Markus Holopainen (MH) wrote and commented on the manuscript. PL-S planned and supervised the study and contributed to writing the original draft of the manuscript.

Study IV: MB wrote the original draft of the manuscript. MB did the fieldwork, participated in the study design, and was responsible for the methodology and statistical tests. MK was responsible for soil sampling and analyzing methods and wrote parts of the manuscript. MS supervised the soil-related data and analysis. PL-S and TK planned and supervised the study. All authors contributed to the writing of the original manuscript.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION	11
1.1 Insect disturbances and their ecological, economic, and social impact	11
1.2 Role of natural enemies in regulating insect populations	12
1.3 Role of environmental factors regulating insect populations	13
1.4 Growth and economic losses due to defoliation	14
1.5 Aims and objectives of the dissertation	15
2MATERIALS AND METHODS	15
2.1 Study areas and sampling plots	15
2.2 Target species 2.2.1 Diprion pini 2.2.2 Ips typographus	18 18 19
 2.3 Assessment of damage caused by the species. 2.3.1 Defoliation by D. pini. 2.3.2 Estimating growth and economic losses. 2.3.3 Classification of symptoms caused by I. typographus and the infestation in class 	20 20 20 <i>ndex</i> 21
2.4 Assessment of natural enemies	24
 2.5 Environmental factors 2.5.1 Topography (II and IV) 2.5.2 Forest floor, soil sampling, and laboratory analysis (I, II, & IV) 	24 24 25
 2.6 Statistical analyses	26 26 27 27
3RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	27
 3.1 The effect of natural enemies on pest population (I) 3.1.1 The overall impact of the natural enemy complex on D. pini cocoon mortal 27 3.1.2 The impact of parasitism 	27 ılity 29
3.1.3 The impact of predation	29
 3.2 The impact of environmental characteristics on insect disturbance (I, II & IV) 3.2.1 The impact of stand characteristics on the natural enemies	30 30 31 32
3.3 Defoliation caused by D. pini and growth and economic losses (I, II, III) 3.3.1 Defoliation as a symptom of D. pini outbreak 3.3.2 Growth and economic losses	36 36 37

3.4 Implications for forest management	
4CONCLUSIONS	40
REFERENCES	41

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Insect disturbances and their ecological, economic, and social impact

Forests have increasingly become more susceptible to biotic and abiotic disturbances promoted by a hotter and drier climate (Forzieri et al. 2020; Patacca et al. 2023). For example, storms, drought, insect pest, and pathogen outbreaks have become more frequent, and at the same time, the resilience of the forests to the disturbances has been decreasing (Jaime et al. 2024; Senf et al. 2018). While these disturbances are a natural part of the forest's function, their impact can be severe. The increasing frequency and intensity of insect outbreaks have significantly impacted the forests' ecological, economic, and social values. For example, the European spruce bark beetle, *Ips typographus* L. (Coleoptera: Curculionidae, Scolytinae), caused extreme tree deaths in the 19th century in Europe (Hlásny et al. 2021). In the Czech Republic, it damaged over 30 million m³ of wood in 2019 (Fernandez-Carrillo et al. 2020) and in Germany, the economic loss due to the species was estimated at 260 million euros in 2018–2019 (Hlásny et al. 2021). Furthermore, large-scale disturbances can significantly impact ecosystem services, such as carbon sequestration, biodiversity, natural resources, and recreational use of forests.

There has also been a remarkable increase in insect disturbances in northern latitudes, and the insect pest outbreaks are still shifting northwards (Klapwijk et al. 2012; Romashkin et al. 2020). Climate warming is predicted to impact high latitudes, such as in northern Europe, which can lead to increasing problems with insect pest outbreaks. For example, I. typographus has caused severe damage in Estonia and Sweden (López-Andújar Fustel et al. 2024; Schroeder & Kärvemo 2022). In Finland, the magnitude and frequency of insect outbreaks have also been increasing (Blomqvist et al. 2016; Blomqvist et al. 2018; Neuvonen & Viiri 2017; Junttila et al. 2024). I. typographus has become a major threat to Finnish spruce forests in recent years, and the disturbances have multiplied. According to the Finnish Forest Centre, Finland's highest number of forest cuttings due to I. typographus was carried out in 2022 (Terhonen & Melin 2023). In addition, National Forest Inventory (NFI) data showed that damage caused by I. typographus has increased by over 200 % from 2022 to 2023 (Ylioja & Sutela 2024). Junttila et al. (2024) found that tree mortality, predominantly caused by bark beetles, such as I. typographus, has increased tenfold from 2017 to 2023. Defoliating insects have also caused intensifying damage to Finnish forests in recent decades. A large outbreak caused by a common pine sawfly (Diprion pini L.) belted through Finland during 1997–2001, influencing over 500 000 ha of forested areas, and in 2022-2023, a widespread outbreak caused by European pine sawfly (Neodiprion sertifer Geoff.) was causing remarkable defoliation of pines in different locations (Långström et al. 2001; Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa & Tomppo 2002; Terhonen & Melin 2023).

Climate change directly and indirectly affects insects' survival, reproduction, dispersal, and ability to induce disturbances (Filazzola et al. 2021). For example, global warming directly affects insect phenology. An indirect effect comes from a change between different species; for example, through host tree defense or affecting the natural enemies (Kolb et al. 2019). Regulation of pest populations is divided into top-down (e.g., predators, parasites, pathogens) or bottom-up (resource limitations) factors (Vidal & Murphy 2018). For example, bark beetle epidemics are often promoted by windstorms or drought and heat periods; thus, the resources could be unlimited. Insects are poikilothermic, and they can have a great magnitude of phenotypic plasticity in the expression of their life history and behavioral traits

(Bentz et al. 2019). Therefore, changes in mean temperatures are expected to have a strong impact on their fitness and development, and they can adapt to changes in their environment relatively quickly (Bentz et al. 2022). For instance, previously univoltine species developing one generation in a year can be transferred to multivoltine due to longer and warmer summer periods (Möller et al. 2017). This can increase the damage caused by the species. Without regulation factors, the population would theoretically grow exponentially (Speight et al. 2008).

In addition to these, various predisposing environmental factors affect population growth. Forestry and soil properties, among others, have been shown to influence the performance of insect pests (Hilszczahski et al. 2006; De Somviele et al. 2007; Zolubas et al. 2009; Blomqvist et al. 2018). For example, soil properties can affect tree vitality, and suboptimal growing habitats can make them more vulnerable to insect pests. For example, a tree's defense mechanism can change during a prolonged drought (Kolb et al. 2019).

1.2 Role of natural enemies in regulating insect populations

Natural enemies, i.e., predators and parasitoids, can effectively regulate the density of pest populations (Hanski & Parviainen 1985; Herz & Heitland 2003). However, interactions between different trophic levels, such as between a prey or a host and its natural enemies, are complex (Jactel et al. 2019; Speight et al. 2008). Climate change can alter the interaction of the prey/host and natural enemies by mismatching their phenology (Damien & Tougeron 2019; Forrest 2016; Möller et al. 2017; Netherer & Schopf 2010; Pureswaran et al. 2015). This can have a massive influence on tropic levels. The effect of the natural enemies is considered delayed compared to the population density of the host organism, driven by multiple factors (Jactel et al. 2019). These factors are, for example, the life cycle of the pest, the life cycle of natural enemies, requirements of habitat, and resources (Bellone et al. 2017; Bellone et al. 2020; Herz & Heitland 2003; Kollberg et al. 2014; Kouki et al. 1998; Nordkvist et al. 2022).

Responses of natural enemies to the increase in pest insects' population size depend also on the pest species' occurrence and population density. Parasitoids are usually specialized to a host and can adapt their life cycle to match the host population (Kaltz & Shykoff 2002). Their impact is typically most pronounced when the host population densities are high or intermediate. Parasitoids, including wasps from the Ichneumonidae (Hymenoptera) and the Chalcidoidea (Hymenoptera) families and flies from the Tachinidae family, are regarded as the major cocoon parasites of the *D. pini* (Viitasaari & Varama 1987; Geri 1988; De Somviele et al. 2007; Blomqvist et al. 2016). For example, parasitoids can be an effective mortality factor of *D. pini* in the cocoon stage (De Somviele et al. 2007).

Predators, usually generalists, possess significant potential for reducing the severity of sawfly outbreaks (Bellone et al. 2020; De Somviele et al. 2007; Hanski & Parviainen 1985). Small mammals, such as shrews (Soricidae) and voles (Arvicolinae), and birds, tits (Paridae) for example, can exert a substantial impact on prey insects when their populations are at endemic levels, due to their dispersal capabilities and capacity to learn (Barbaro & Battisti 2011; Berryman 1986; Berryman et al. 1987; Crawford & Jennings 1989). However, their influence tends to be less pronounced at epidemic levels due to their lower reproductive rates, as noted by Berryman et al. (1987). Additionally, beetles like elaterids (Elateridae) and

carabids (Carabidae) also contribute to the destruction of sawfly cocoons, as documented by Hanski and Parviainen (1985).

In addition, the effect of natural enemies on the pest population is related to environmental characteristics and the site's microclimate (Bellone et al., 2020). Stands with higher biodiversity are considered more optimal environments for natural enemies (Bellone et al. 2017; Nordkvist et al. 2023). Such habitats offer diverse food resources for natural enemies; thus, the overall natural enemy complex can be higher (Staab & Schuldt 2020). However, studies with sawflies have also found that sawfly parasitism could be more effective than predation in pure pine forests compared to more heterogeneous forests (Herz & Heitland 2003). For example, cocoon parasitoids of *D. pini* can benefit from the thin humus layer of pine forests because the cocoons are more exposed. On the other hand, fertile sites can hold bigger predator pressure than sites with poor vegetation cover, as denser understory also provides shelter for small mammals (Kollberg et al. 2014).

1.3 Role of environmental factors regulating insect populations

The functioning of forest insect pests is also influenced by different forest stand, soil, and site characteristics (Blomqvist et al. 2016; Blomqvist et al. 2018; De Somviele et al. 2007; Kosunen et al. 2017; Zolubas et al. 2009). These environmental factors are considered density-independent factors. Environmental factors can affect pest insects differently depending on the insect's life history traits. Forest development class, tree density, and tree species composition have varying effects on pest populations depending on the pest (Baier et al. 2002; De Somviele et al, 2007; Mezei et al. 2014). Tree and stand characteristics can directly impact pest insect populations and their performance. For example, *I. typographus* infests rather mature spruce trees than younger trees with thin bark (Netherer & Nopp-Mayr 2005). Host tree resistance and defense compounds also play a crucial role in the regulation of insect population, and environmental characteristics also influence those (Christiansen & Bakke 1988; Ryan et al. 2015).

Topographic features, such as elevation, slope, and aspect, can play a crucial role in influencing insect outbreaks and performance (Kantola et al. 2014; Martin et al. 2013; Niemelä et al. 1987). The impact of elevation on insect populations is predominantly indirect, altering microclimates, affecting foliage chemistry, and influencing the distribution of host species (Hodkinson 2005; Lausch et al. 2011; Netherer & Nopp-Mayr 2005). Topographic features usually influence insects in combination with other environmental features rather than as a single factor. Steep slopes, especially those facing south to west, may induce heat stress in host trees and potentially create more favorable local climates and habitats for both defoliators and bark beetles (Kaiser et al. 2013; Kharuk et al. 2007; Morse & Kulman 1986). Such environments generally contribute to drier and warmer conditions and are more nutrient-deficient than gentle slopes and other aspects. On the contrary, there are different results on how, for example, the aspect affects the presence of insects. Damage caused by a defoliator, Siberian silkmoth (Dendrolimus superans sibiricus Tschetw.), has also been observed to be higher on flat areas as opposed to steeper slopes (Kharuk et al. 2007). The preferences can depend, among other things, on the order of insects. For example, sapsucking insects have demonstrated a preference for north-northwest-facing slopes in the Appalachian Mountains (Kantola et al. 2014). The potential for excessive direct solar radiation may limit infestation due to elevated thermal conditions under the bark and dryness of the phloem

(Bartos & Amman 1989). Thus, northeast-facing slopes can also pose a risk for bark beetle infestation (Huo et al. 2024; Jurc et al. 2006).

Soil fertility also has a significant influence on tree growth and vitality, impacting the defense mechanisms of host trees (Baier 1996). Trees growing in areas with greater soil fertility demonstrate enhanced resilience, attributed to increased nutrient abundance and improved access to water resources, in contrast to trees growing in poorer environments. These trees possess the ability to allocate higher amounts of carbon (C) and nutrients toward the production of secondary metabolites, including defense compounds (Raffa et al. 2015). Poor soil fertility, which is related to dry sites, thin soil, and coarse soil texture, has been associated with more severe defoliator performance (Mayfield et al. 2007; Nevalainen et al. 2015). On the other hand, Kosunen et al. (2017) found that D. pini defoliation was more significant in more fertile sites in the study area with limited variability of site types. Growth, performance, and, e.g., immune defense of herbivorous insects is nitrogen-limited (Lee et al. 2008; Lindstedt et al. 2020). Soil nitrogen (N) availability, which has been linked to needle N content and concentration of N in the phloem (Björkman et al. 1991), can benefit insects by boosting their reproduction and performance due to an optimized nutritional status (Goodsman et al. 2012; Lyytikäinen 1994). However, the effects of specific nutrients on tree health and vulnerability to defoliators or bark beetle infestations can be complex and depend on several issues (Baier 1996; Blomqvist et al. 2018; Kosunen et al. 2017).

1.4 Growth and economic losses due to defoliation

Defoliation caused by insects can significantly hamper tree growth since it reduces the photosynthetically important parts of the tree crown, such as leaves or needles. The relationship between defoliation intensity and growth loss can be either linear or non-linear, with the latter occurring especially when growth stabilizes after a certain defoliation threshold (Jacquet et al. 2012). The impact of defoliation on tree growth is influenced by various factors, including needle age, tree age, infestation timing and intensity, consumption period length, and a defoliation history of the stand (Austarå et al. 1987; De Somviele et al. 2004).

The carbon reserves in needles and relative needle nitrogen content may be altered by defoliation. When defoliation occurs, the carbon sink diminishes, which affects the relative N content (Jacquet et al. 2014; Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa 1999). Biochemical changes in remaining needles further influence tree growth responses. Long-term defoliation can alter tree height and radial growth, as well as needle biomass or shoot length (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa & Tomppo 2002; Nordkvist et al. 2020). Radial growth is more affected by defoliation intensity compared to shoot length (Nordkvist et al. 2020). For instance, radial growth decreased significantly due to needle consumption by *D. pini*: defoliation intensities of 50% and 90% diminished radial growth by 86% and 94%, respectively (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa and Tomppo 2002).

Generally, defoliation caused by insects is not noted as severe as tree mortality by insects, for example, by the forest owners. However, the influence of defoliation can be remarkable, leading to a significant impact on economic returns through growth losses. For example, the economic impact of outbreaks of *N. sertifer* in Norway ranged from 321 NOK to 11,757 NOK (32 to 1188 \in reverted to corresponding monetary value in 2022) per hectare in a nine-year period, depending on stand age and site index class (Austarå et al. 1987). The outbreak of *D. pini* caused an economic loss of about 288 \in per hectare after a one-year outbreak in

western Finland (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa and Tomppo 2002). The cumulative economic impact of *D. pini* over a nine-year recovery period, involving growth losses and tree mortality, ranged from $365 \notin$ to $1,218 \notin$ per hectare, depending on defoliation intensity (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa et al. 2006).

1.5 Aims and objectives of the dissertation

As mentioned before, the damage caused by insect pests can be remarkable, and many aspects affect insect population dynamics and the vulnerability of forests to insect outbreaks. The main aim of the dissertation was to study how different biotic and abiotic regulating factors influence the level of disturbances caused by pest insects. More specifically, my thesis analyzes how environmental characteristics impact natural enemies' control over the pest population, the intensity of damage, and factors that make trees more vulnerable to insect-induced damage. Additionally, it examines the consequences of long-term insect disturbance on tree growth and economic losses. My study species were *D. pini* and *I. typographus*. The main study objectives were:

- i) To examine the long-term impact of natural enemies on *D. pini* mortality during the cocoon stage and to investigate the relationship between stand characteristics and the influence of natural enemies on *D. pini* cocoon mortality (study I).
- ii) To investigate the most important soil and topographic factors that explain the defoliation intensity caused by *D. pini* (study II).
- iii) To estimate the quantitative effect of prolonged outbreak of *D. pini* on the growth and economic losses of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.)
- iv) To identify the environmental characteristics that predisposed stands to *I. typographus* infestation.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Study areas and sampling plots

Studies I, II, and III were carried out in Palokangas, Ilomantsi, in eastern Finland ($62^{\circ}52^{\circ}N$, $30^{\circ}56^{\circ}E$) from 2002 to 2010 (Figure 1, Table 1). The research area (34.5 square kilometers) is mainly dry pine forests (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) consisting mainly of *Vaccinium* and *Calluna* forest types (according to Cajander's forest type classification, 1926) with a thin humus layer. The population of *D. pini* has been at an epidemic level, and the damage has been chronic since 1999, slowly showing a decreasing trend towards 2010. Forest stand development classes of the study area are relatively heterogeneous and fragmented due to forest management practices (Olsson et al. 2016). Eleven circular plots (r = 8.5-13 m) were established in 2002 (I, II & III) and 17 in 2007 (II & III). The sampling plots were chosen subjectively to cover a wide range of defoliation levels. The center of each study plot was located with a Trimble Pro XH GPS device (Trimble Navigation Ltd., Sunnyvale, CA, USA). All trees were located by measuring azimuths and distances to the plot centers. Tree-wise measurements were carried out during the establishment years and in 2010. Diameter-at-breast-height (dbh) of all trees over a dbh threshold of 5.6 cm was measured. Mean height

and age were estimated to be seven to eight trees per plot covering various diameter classes. In addition, basal area (m2/ha) and stand tree density (n/ha) were calculated.

Study IV was carried out in the urban forest in the city of Lahti, in southern Finland (60°59'N, 25°39'E) during the years 2012–2014 (Figure 1, Table 1). Summer 2010 was warm and stormy in Finland (Neuvonen & Viiri 2017), which led to the outbreak of *I. typographus* in 2011 in the study area. Forest stands are dominated by mature and over-mature Norway spruce, growing mainly on fertile *Myrtillus, Myrtillus-Oxalis,* and *Oxalis-Maianthemum* site types. Stand age, Norway spruce dominance, and root rot infestations (*Heterobasidon* spp.) have been promoting the outbreak vulnerability. The Salpausselkä I terminal moraine crosses the study area (Rainio et al. 1995; Tschudi et al. 2000), which gives soils their characteristic form. The tops of terminal moraine are formed of till and bedrock with or without shallow topsoil, while flanking slopes are formed of sorted silt and clay deposits. The forests of the study area are in intensive recreational use by the citizens. For that reason, only selective forest thinning had been carried out in the area.

Circular sampling plots (r = 10) were established in 2012 and 2013. The study plots (n=48) were established for monitoring the infestation level of *I. typographus* (in 2012) or as reference data for remote sensing of the infestation (in 2013) (Näsi et al. 2015, 2018). In 2014, all the plots were reassessed for **IV**. Field inventories included basic tree- and stand-level measurements: dbh of all trees on the plot, tree height of median tree on the plot and from every seventh tree, stand-wise tree density (n/ha), basal area (m²/ha), proportion of spruce trees (%) and proportion of dead spruce trees (%). All trees were positioned by measuring azimuths and distances to the plot centers. The center of each plot was located with a Trimble GPS device (Trimble Navigation Ltd., Sunnyvale, CA, USA).

The average diameter at breast height (dbh) of the spruce trees (n=461) across all plots was 31.7 cm, accompanied by an average height of 24.9 m. Within the plots, the average basal area of the spruce trees was 28.6 m²/ha. Tree density per plot ranged from 159 to 955 trees/ha. The mean proportion of Norway spruce trees in the study plots was 78% (varying from 31 to 100% across individual plots). Additionally, the average proportion of dead spruces per plot was 13.5%, with variability from 0 to 100%.



Figure 1. Location of the study areas: Ilomantsi (I-III) and Lahti (IV) in eastern and southern Finland, respectively. Google Maps provided the background map.

Table 1. Summary of information and measured variables from study areas and sampling plots. Site type classification: CT = Calluna type, VT = Vaccinium type, MT = Myrtillus type, OMT = Oxalis type, OMT = Oxalis-acetosella type or other herb-rich type. C = carbon, N = nitrogen.

	llomantsi	Lahti
Studies of the thesis	I, II, III	IV
Location (WGS84)	62°52' N, 30°56' E	60°59' N, 25°39' E
Study years	2002–2010	2012–2014
Size of the study area	34,5 km ²	135 km ²
Mean annual temperature and	2–3 C ^o and 650–700 mm	4–5 Cº and 600–650 mm
annual precipitation sum		
Forest site types	VT, CT	MT, OMT, OMaT
Dominant tree species	Scots pine Pinus	Norway spruce Picea abies
	sylvestris	
The mean basal area on study	17.5	29
plots		
Stand development category	Advanced thinning and	Mature and over-mature
	mature	
Description of forests	Commercial forests	Urban forest areas,
	fragmented due to forest	fragmented due to
	management operations	urbanization
Dominant forest pest insect	Common pine sawfly	European spruce bark
	Diprion pini	beetle
		lps typographus
Studied environmental factors	Elevation, slope, forest	Elevation, slope, aspect,
	floor vegetation, soil	soil factors (C, N, soil
	factors (C, N, pH), site	stoniness, soil type), site
	type, tree factors	type, tree factors
Explanatory variable	Cocoon mortality,	Infestation level
	defoliation, tree growth	

2.2 Target species

2.2.1 Diprion pini

D. pini is a native species in Finnish forests with eruptive population dynamics (Geri 1988; De Somviele et al. 2007). The species mainly occur in even-aged mature Scots pine stands growing on dry soils. *D. pini* belongs to foliage-feeders by defoliating needles of pines.

During the last two decades, *D. pini* has become a more severe pest in Finland (De Somviele et al. 2007; Blomqvist et al. 2016; Blomqvist et al. 2018). In Palokangas, Ilomantsi, the population of *D. pini* remained at the epidemic phase for over ten years, contradicting the typical gradation pattern. However, the population density decreased slowly towards a postgradition phase (Blomqvist et al. 2016). Still, in 2016, the defoliation caused by *D. pini* was recognizable in Palokangas.

In Finland, adults of *D. pini* hatch from cocoons between May and July in several waves, and the life cycle of the species is univoltine (Viitasaari and Varama 1987; Geri 1988). In Central Europe, *D. pini* can be bivoltine. Adults lay eggs on needles. Larvae hatch after 3–4 weeks and consume needles from older and current years during late summer (Geri 1998). With the bivoltine cycle, the first generation develops in the tree crown, and the second generation spins the cocoon for overwintering in the litter or humus layer at the end of the summer or early fall. The cocoon stage is immobile and exposed to natural enemies. Therefore, the mortality during the cocoon stage is expected to be an important factor that regulates population sizes (Herz & Heitland 2003; Blomqvist et al. 2016). Compared to the other harmful pine sawfly species, *Neodiprion sertifer* (Geoffr.), in Finland, *D. pini* can cause more extreme defoliation and even tree deaths by consuming all needle year-classes from pines.

2.2.2 Ips typographus

I. typographus is economically the most harmful forest pest species in Finland and Europe, yet it belongs to Finnish native species. The species has eruptive population dynamics, which are controlled and driven, e.g., by seasonal temperatures, drought, the number of windthrows, intraspecific competition and natural enemies (Wermelinger & Seifert 1999; Wermelinger 2004; Biedermann et al. 2019). *I. typographus* attack mainly weakened mature and overmature Norway spruces (Zolubas et al. 2009). Storms can simultaneously offer considerable amounts of optimal breeding material as windthrown trees, leading to populations developing to epidemic levels (Eriksson et al. 2005). Furthermore, if the weather and environmental conditions are optimal, the population density can increase rapidly, spreading to vital trees (Kärvemo et al. 2014; Lausch et al. 2011).

In spring, the adults swarm when the air temperature is above app. 18 °C, thus the optimum flight temperature is above 22 °C (Wermelinger 2004; Öhrn et al. 2014). When the optimal air temperature is reached, *I. typographus* attacks spruce trees for reproduction. The species uses aggregation pheromones to colonize a spruce (Schlyter et al. 1987). Females lay eggs under the bark along the maternal gallery, and the immature stage of the beetle starts to consume the phloem. Larval feeding disturbs the nutrition and water flows of the tree, resulting in discoloration and defoliation of the crown and, eventually, death of the tree. The beetle is a vector of blue stain fungus, which accelerates tree death (Paljakka et al. 2020). *I. typographus* hibernates in the bark or the litter next to the tree trunk (Weslien 1992). In Finland, the species hibernates mainly in the soil (Annila 1969).

In 2010, storms, exceptionally high temperatures, and drought led to a wider reproduction of *I. typographus* in Finland (Neuvonen & Viiri 2017). This was seen as cumulated tree deaths during the following years until the population densities decreased. For example, in southern Finland, the population peaked in 2011–2012, according to the tree deaths in the Lahti area (Blomqvist et al. 2018). In 2012, the population was still high, according to the pheromone trap data, but decreased in 2013 (Blomqvist et al. unpublished data). The year 2010 was also the first year when individuals from the second generation were found in Finland (Neuvonen

& Viiri 2017). In addition, living individuals from the presumably second generation were found in October 2012 in the Lahti study area (Blomqvist, personal observation). The second generation of young adults probably cannot survive the winter in Finland. In the early 2020s, populations have risen again (Junttila et al. 2024). Increasing disturbances have occurred during the study period of six years between 2017–2023.

2.3 Assessment of damage caused by the species

2.3.1 Defoliation by D. pini

D. pini larvae cause varying degrees of defoliation depending on the number of larvae (population level) by eating needles (Figure 2). When eating continues for several years, that can cause tree dieback. The defoliation caused by *D. pini* was visually assessed during May and early June between 2002 and 2010, excluding 2003. The assessment was done in spring before the elongation of new needles; thus, the situation represented the status from the previous year. Tree-wise defoliation was classified using a precision of 10%. Defoliation was assessed from the upper two-thirds of the crown, and 0% of defoliation described a healthy tree, and 100% described a tree without any needles, i.e., a dead tree. The mean defoliation of a plot (in studies I & II) was calculated without trees from the suppressed canopy layer because those can be influenced by other stress factors. In study II, plot-wise defoliation was used because defoliation intensity over 20% has been studied to affect tree growth substantially (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa and Tomppo 2002).

In study III, we classified trees based on defoliation (n=197) into four groups: low (0–10%), mild (20–40%), moderate (50–60%) and high (70–100%) based on defoliation intensity in 2007 (see study III).

2.3.2 Estimating growth and economic losses

We took tree ring samples (n=184) in 2010 to study the effect of defoliation intensity on radial growth using an increment borer. The increment core samples were taken at breast height from the median trees of plots and every third tree across the plots. The samples were prepared in the laboratory for measurements, glued to wooden chutes, and then polished with sandpaper. Annual radial growths were measured inwards from the bark to the core using a stereomicroscope attached with a linear scale encoder (ENC-150) (Accurite, Jamestown, NY, USA). Data were saved using the MeasureJ2X program (VoorTech Consulting, NH, USA).

The dissimilarities in the radial growths between the four defoliation classes were investigated by developing an index. The index was calculated using annual radial growths. For the index, the annual radial growth was divided by the average growth of the tree from the period before the initial sawfly outbreak (1994–1998; 1998 was the last healthy year) and then multiplied by 100. The annual radial growth of each defoliation class was computed as the mean of the tree-wise indices. Those annual radial growths were compared to the index baseline, which was computed as a mean of radial growths from the years 1994–1998.



Figure 2. Larvae of *D. pini* (up left), a landscape with heavily defoliated and dead Scots pines surrounded by final cutting (down left), and Scots pines with different levels of defoliation in a study plot (right). Photos: Päivi Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa and Minna Blomqvist.

Tree heights were modeled using Näslund's equation for tree height (Näslund 1937) because we did not measure heights from all the trees with defoliation information. To estimate growth losses, we modeled each sample tree volume for three different years: 1989, 1998, and 2009. Tree volumes were modeled based on dbh measurements from the increment cores and tree heights using a variable regression model for Scots pine volume (Laasasenaho 1982). The average yearly increase in volume for individual trees was determined. We then compared the mean annual volume growth, categorized by tree defoliation classes, over an 11-year interval encompassing the gradation and post-gradation phases of *D. pini* (1999–2009) with the average growth rate during a 10-year baseline period preceding the outbreak (1989–1998). To derive estimates per hectare, we multiplied these tree volumes by their corresponding mean stem density.

2.3.3 Classification of symptoms caused by I. typographus and the infestation index class

A tree-wise visible symptom classification was developed to investigate the attack level of *I. typographus* (Figure 3). In 2014, the symptoms were assessed from each spruce tree on the study plots during the late growing season, i.e., in August. This classification described the health status of the tree. The assessed symptoms were visible on the tree trunk and in the crown: holes (entrance and exit) in the lowest 2 m from the trunk, condition of the bark

(healthy, chipping/minor damage or part of the bark already pealed), the number of resin flows, crown color, and defoliation (Figure 3). The crown symptoms were evaluated at a distance corresponding to approximate tree height from different directions. The holes, bark condition, and resin flow were classified into three classes, and the defoliation and crown color were classified into four classes based on the severity of the symptom. The crown color was classified as green as a healthy tree, yellow as a moderate attack, red as a severe attack, and gray as a dead tree (Figure 4). For more details on classification, see (Blomqvist et al. 2018).



Figure 3. Examples of classification of visible symptoms caused by *I. typographus*. Spruces with green and yellowish crowns (a), spruces with reddish crowns (b), a spruce tree with defoliation of 26–50% (c), a spruce tree with defoliation of 51–75% (d), dead spruces with defoliation of 75–100% (e), a tree trunk with > 30 resin spots (f), minor bark damage (g), a young adult of I. typographus in mother gallery (h), major bark damage with I. typographus feeding galleries (i) and a boring hole with resin and sawdust in it (j). Photos: Päivi Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa and Minna Blomgvist.



Figure 4. Classification of symptoms caused by *I. typographus* into three categories for trunk symptoms and four categories for crown symptoms, along with the number (y-axis) and percentage (in parentheses) of spruces classified under each category in the Lahti study area in 2014. The classification criteria are as follows: Resin flow: 1 = 0 spots, 2 = 1-30 spots, 3 = >30 spots; Holes: 1 = No infestation (0), 2 = Mild infestation (1-30), 3 = Severe infestation (>30); Bark: 1 = Healthy, 2 = Minor damage, 3 = Major damage; Discoloration: 1 = Healthy/green, 2 = Yellowish, 3 = Reddish, 4 = Dead/grey; Defoliation: 1 = 0-25%, 2 = 26-50%, 3 = 51-75%, 4 = 76-100%.

We summed the classes of symptoms of resin flow, crown color, and defoliation to get a treewise bark beetle attack level score. For example, if all three symptoms were in the healthy class (1), the attack level score was three, and if the symptoms were in the most severe class (resin flow = 3, crown color = 4, and defoliation = 4), the attack level score was 11. Hence, the attack level score ranged between three and 11.

Trees smaller than dbh of 20 cm were excluded from the classification due to other stress factors, such as light competition. In addition, the bark condition and the holes were excluded from the attack level score due to difficulties in observing holes, thick bark, and other factors (see more justification from study **IV**). We classified the attack level scores into *infestation index classes* based on the severity of the infestation: *no infestation* (attack level score 3–4, n=116), *moderate infestation* (attack level score 5–7, n=223), and *severe infestation* (attack level score 8–11, n=51). The *infestation index class* describes the severity of *I. typographus* infestation. The *moderate infestation class* was included in the infestation index class because I observed that not all the infested spruces die right after beetle infestation. In addition, it was important to detect early and mild infestation for control efforts.

Old hatched Current hatched Potential pests Diapausing Birds Small mammals Predation Elateridae Carabidae Natural enemies Tachinidae Chalcidoidea Parasitism Ichneumonidae Other factors

Figure 5. Classification of D. pini cocoons. Current hatched and diapausing individuals form the group of potential pests, and predators and parasitoids are natural enemies.

2.4 Assessment of natural enemies

The impact of natural enemies on defoliation caused by *D. pini* was studied between 2005-2010 in Palokangas, Ilomantsi, by collecting cocoon samples from the litter and humus layer (I). The assessment was carried out in May before the hatching of *D. pini*. Consequently, the samples corresponded to the situation of the previous fall. Frames of 0.5 m x 0.5 m were placed next to every fifth tree trunk. The place of the frames moved clockwise every year to the next tree trunk. The number of the transferred cocoons in and out from our study plots was assumed to be even.

Classification of cocoons was made into groups by different mortality factors. Identification of mortality factors was classified from cocoons visually into insect families Ichneumonidae (wasps), Chalcidoidea (wasps), and Tachinidae (flies) (together parasitism) and small mammals, birds, and the insect families Carabidae (ground beetles) and Elateridae (click beetles) (Hertz 1933; Viitasaari & Varama 1987) (together predation) (Fig 5). Parasitoids and predators together represent the natural enemy complex. In addition, diapausing individuals (unbroken cocoons), both current and old hatched, were identified. The current hatched and diapausing individuals were combined and called '*potential pests*' because those can affect defoliation intensity via their offspring. We used relative proportions of cocoons in each class.

2.5 Environmental factors

2.5.1 Topography (II and IV)

A digital elevation model (DEM) with a resolution of 1 m was used to extract elevation above sea level (m a.s.l.) in studies II and IV. DEM was acquired from a high pulse density LiDAR (Light Detection and Ranging) data set for study II. For study IV, the DEM was downloaded from the open data source of the National Land Survey of Finland (NLS Topographic Database 11/2016). Elevation for each plot was calculated as a mean of pixel values within

study plots. Plot-wise slope (II, IV) and aspect (IV) were derived from the elevation data utilizing ArcMap® (ArcGis ESRI, Redlands, CA). The slope was calculated as a mean pixel of each plot. In study IV, the mean slope (%) of the plots was classified into five classes: very gently sloping, gently sloping, sloping, strongly sloping, and moderately steep sloping. The aspect was calculated as the majority of pixels (the value that occurred most often in pixels within the zone) within each study plot, and it was classified into eight classes by cardinal and semi-cardinal directions (see the classification from study IV).

2.5.2 Forest floor, soil sampling, and laboratory analysis (I, II, & IV)

In study **I**, forest floor vegetation assessment was done within a 1m x 1m frame in each plot in 2010. The assessment was done with a precision of 5% from five points: from the center of a plot and 5.3m from the center towards each cardinal direction. The coverages (%) of blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.), lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idea* L.), lichen (*Lichenes*), moss (*Bryobionta*), heather (*Calluna vulgaris* L.), and other minor plant species were estimated. The depth of the humus layer was measured from vegetation frames.

From Palokangas (II), soil samples were collected from the center of a plot, and each cardinal direction was at a distance of 5.3 m from the center of a plot in 2010. The soil samples were taken with a steel auger (diameter 58mm) from a depth of 0.5 m or until the bedrock. The surface litter layer (Ol) was removed, and the thickness of the humus layer (Of+Oh), (Ah+)E, B, and C-horizons was measured with a precision of 0.1 cm. The layers were separated into plastic bags and kept at 5 °C until laboratory analysis. Only the humus layer and B-horizon samples were analyzed because the other layers were not always adequate. The five samples from a plot were combined. Dried humus layer samples were milled and filtered through a 2mm sieve. A 25 ml subsamples of B-horizon samples were filtered through a 2 mm sieve. The weight of >2 mm and <2mm fractions were recorded. The particle size distribution of <2 mm B-horizon sample was determined utilizing laser fractionation (Coulter LS230[®], Beckman Coulter Inc., Brea, CA, USA). We utilized the following texture classification: clay (< 0.002 mm), fine silt (0.002-0.006 mm), medium silt (0.006–0.02 mm), coarse silt (0.02–0.06 mm), fine sand (0.06–0.2 mm), medium sand (0.2– 0.6 mm) and coarse sand (0.6-2 mm). A VarioMax CN device (Elementar Analysensysteme GmbH, Hanau, Germany) was used to determine total organic C and N contents from the humus layer and <2 mm B-horizon samples. The soil C/N ratio was calculated from the contents of C and N. To determine soil pH, we used a glass electrode for milled humus layer samples and 0.1 M calcium chloride solution (1:2).

In Lahti (**IV**), soil cores were collected with a steel auger (diameter 35 mm, length 30 cm) from the center of each study plot and at a four-meter distance from the center towards the south and north in 2014. First, green vegetation and the litter layer (Ol) were removed from the samples, then the thickness of the remaining organic surface layer (Of+Oh) was recorded at a precision of 0.1cm. In most samples (65%), the organic material and mineral soil were mixed in the topsoil. Thus, only a minor of the samples had a clear humus layer. The mineral soil was divided into layers of 0–5 cm, 5–10 cm, and 10–20 cm. The separated layers were placed into plastic bags and stored at -18° C until laboratory analysis. The samples were dried and then weighed. The mineral soil samples were filtered through a 2 mm sieve and the fractions > 2 mm and < 2 mm were weighted. The humus layer samples were milled. We used only the samples from the humus layer and 0–5 cm mineral soil because of the fine roots in those layers. Fine roots are important for tree nutrient acquisition (Helmisaari et al. 2007). A VarioMax CN device (Elementar Analysensysteme GmbH, Hanau, Germany) was used to

determine total organic C and N contents from the humus layer and <2 mm B-horizon samples. We used ArcGIS for a digital map available from the Hakku open database maintained by the Geological Survey of Finland (https://hakku.gtk.fi/) to derive the type and texture of quaternary superficial deposit in which the soil had formed. The soil texture classes for sorted deposits in the study area were classified as follows: clay (<0.002 mm), fine silt (0.002–0.006 mm), medium silt (0.006–0.02 mm), coarse silt (0.02–0.06 mm) and sand (0.06–2 mm) (Haavisto-Hyvärinen & Kutvonen 2007). In addition, the following two classes of glacial moraine deposits, sandy till and shallow till (soil depth <1 m over the bedrock, subsequently referred to as shallow till), were found.

The soil stone content (IV) was estimated using a rod penetration method by Viro (1951). A steel rod (d =10 mm) was pushed into the soil to measure the depth of the soil layer at a precision of 1 cm. The stone contents were measured from each study plot from the plot center and at 1 m intervals outwards along the cardinal directions until 10 m (the radius of a plot). A total of 44 stone content measurements were taken per plot. A mean soil penetration for each plot was used for the equation by Tamminen and Starr (1994) to transform the values into volumetric stone content.

2.6 Statistical analyses

This chapter describes the main statistical analyses of the studies. Before the tests mentioned below, other statistical tests were utilized, e.g., to find out data distribution and significant differences between variables and/or classes; nevertheless, those are not described here. A detailed description of the method can be found in the original articles. In all statistical tests, p-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. R statistical software (The R Project 2014) was employed in all the statistical analyses.

2.6.1 Random Forest (I)

A non-parametric Random Forest (RF) algorithm (Breiman 2001) was utilized in investigating the importance of environmental characteristics and defoliation for explaining plot-wise parasitism and predation of *D. pini* cocoons (I). The RF method was chosen due to the small sample size. It can be utilized to study a nonlinear phenomenon that does not meet the normal distribution criteria. RF applies the nearest neighbor (NN) search and is suitable for variable selection in addition to classification (Cutler et al. 2007). For more details, see, e.g. Falkowski et al. (2010) and Crookston and Finley (2012). In investigating the importance of natural enemies to *D. pini*, we classified the study plots using 10% intervals as a threshold of parasitism (five classes) and predation (three classes). Parasitism and predation were separately used as dependent variables, and environmental characteristics (see from I) were used as predictors. In the modeling, we used data from 2010. The estimation was repeated 2000 times, i.e., the number of regression trees was set as 2000 in both studies. Parameter k was set (numbers of NNs) as three, which have been used to gain robust results (e.g., Kantola et al. 2013).

2.6.2 Logistic and linear regressions (II & III)

To assess the ability of topographical and soil variables to predict a plot's affiliation with the mild (<20 % defoliation, n=21) and moderate to severe defoliation (>20 % defoliation, n=7) classes in study II, logistic regression was employed. Logistic regression was chosen because of the non-parametric characteristics of the data and its usability when predicted variables are regarded as dichotomous. To maintain model simplicity and prevent overfitting (limited to three predictors), variables strongly correlated with each other were not simultaneously included. The logistic regression analysis was carried out using various combinations of predictor variables.

In study **III**, a simple linear regression was used to study the relationship between defoliation and radial growth in the following year. This relationship was studied separately for each study year. The regression models were evaluated based only on p-values (**II**, **III**) or, in addition to those, overall classification accuracies and Cohen's Kappa-values.

2.6.3 Cumulative link model (IV)

The cumulative link model (CLM), which is also known as an ordered logit model or a proportional odds model (Christensen 2015b), was utilized to estimate the probability of infestation caused by *I. typographus*. CLM can be used when data is multinominal, and the dependent variable is ordered. We used tree-wise *I. typographus infestation index class* as the ordered dependent variable (no infestation < moderate infestation < severe infestation) and the tree and environmental characteristics (see from **IV**) as predictor variables. Subgroups (tree variables, topography, and soil factors) of variables were used to find the significant predictors to the predictor variable selection for the final models. Box plots were utilized to show the significant differences between the infestation index classes. Model convergences and parameter accuracies were studied, and variable dropping off from the model was tested to find how this affects model accuracy. The maximum absolute gradient and the condition number of the Hessian matrix were studied to evaluate the convergence of the models, and the accuracy of parameter estimates was controlled (Christensen 2015a). AIC (Akaike information criterion), Δ AICs, and Akaike weights were used to test the relative goodness of the final models (Akaike 1987; Burnham et al. 2011).

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 The effect of natural enemies on pest population (I)

3.1.1 The overall impact of the natural enemy complex on D. pini cocoon mortality

The natural enemy complex can regulate pest insect populations (Herz & Heitland 2003; Alalouni et al. 2013; Blomqvist et al. 2016). The impact of natural enemies, having a functional response, may intensify more rapidly during the population gradation phase, then accelerate before the peak of gradation. During our six-year study period from 2005 to 2010 in Palokangas, we observed consistently high cocoon mortality rates, with the impact of the natural enemy complex remaining relatively stable. Overall, cocoon mortality increased by

approximately 20% when comparing 2001 and 2010. The impact of the natural enemy complex was highest in 2010 (79.9%). The peak proportion of newly hatched and diapausing nymph (=potential pests) was in 2005 (23.5%) (Figure 6). De Somviele et al. (2007) found 40.4% overall cocoon mortality two years after the initial *D. pini* outbreak in 2001 in the same Palokangas area (Figure 6). After four years, we observed a 63% higher overall cocoon mortality (65.7%). Our results, while not directly comparable to those of De Somviele et al. (2007), suggest potential saturation of natural enemies in the Palokangas area. The outbreak of *D. pini* began in 1999, with high population densities persisting for several years before our 2005 cocoon sampling. Unusually, the population density remained high for over a decade by 2010, contrary to the typical two to four-year duration of *D. pini* outbreaks in Finland (Viitasaari & Varama 1987). The effect of pathogens or other mortality factors was not separated, so their effect remains unclear.

The results suggest that populations of *D. pini* cannot be entirely controlled by natural enemies despite over a decade-long outbreak and a slowly increasing proportion of the natural enemy complex. At the epidemic level of a pest population, natural enemies alone may not be able to control the outbreak, as abiotic factors and habitat-induced variations in the feeding preferences and behavior of natural enemies can play a critical role (Kollberg et al. 2014). The population density of eruptive forest pests may stay at endemic densities but erupt rapidly into epidemic level if environmental factors or weather anomalies are predisposing forests to population growth at a high level (Berryman et al. 1987). This might have been the case in the early outbreak phase of *D. pini* in Finland (De Somviele et al. 2007).



Figure 6. Proportion (%, \pm SE) of the potential pests (2001 hatched and intact cocoons and 2005–2010 new hatched and diapausing cocoons) and natural enemy complex (parasitoids and predators). Our study period covers the years 2005–2010. Data from 2001 are from De Somviele et al. (2007). Letters indicate statistical differences (p < 0.05) separately for both series (year 2001 not included in statistical tests). Figure adapted from study I (Blomqvist et al. 2016).

Parasitism is considered a crucial factor regulating the sawfly populations. The effect of parasitism is typically density-dependent and delayed, as confirmed in our study. In Palokangas, we revealed a relatively high rate of cocoon parasitism, with a slight amplifying over time. The effect of parasitism at the endemic phase of D. pini is approximately 20 % (De Somviele et al. 2007; Herz & Heitland 2003; Simsek & Kondur 2017). The Ichneumonidae family was one of the main natural enemy factors affecting cocoon mortality (I: Figure 2). It was also the major parasitoid group with an increasing proportion of cocoons destroyed by Ichneumonidae during the study period (from 19.9% to 31.6%). Already in 2005, Ichneumonidae species represented over half of the cocoon parasitism. The families of Tachinidae and Chalcidoidea do not have that significant role in cocoon parasitism. The effects of those were rather stable and low. For example, the cocoon morality of Tachinidae has been studied to be more effective during other life stages of sawflies (Knerer 1993) or only in a minor role (Simsek & Kondur 2017). Examples of D. pini cocoon parasitoids are species such as Pleolophus basizonus (Grav.) and Exenterus oriolus (Htg.) from the Ichneumonidae family (Simsek & Kondur 2017). In our study, the species composition was not studied.

Parasitoid populations can thrive and peak during prolonged outbreak periods (Berryman 1986; Pschorn-Walcher 1987). The rate of cocoon parasitism is influenced by the parasitoid complex's ability to synchronize with the host's population dynamics and environmental factors like stand characteristics (Kidd & Jervis 1997; Turchin et al. 2003). The composition of the parasitoid complex may change during the pest population's gradation phases (Alalouni et al. 2013; Eveleigh et al. 2007).

3.1.3 The impact of predation

Usually, cocoon predation of *D. pini* does not reach the same level as parasitism (Herz & Heitland, 2003). Pure pine forests do not necessarily provide potential alternative food resources or shelters for predators. Vegetation in our study sites was less diverse, however, we found that cocoon predation was similar to cocoon parasitism. Cocoon predation included small mammals (voles, mice, shrews), birds, Elateridae and Carabidae. The mean cocoon mortality by small mammals was approximately 19.6%, and the mean cocoon mortality by birds was 14.7%. Therefore, small mammals and birds covered the highest proportion of predation events, whereas mortality due to invertebrate predators (Elateridae and Carabidae beetles) was lower (2%).

Previous studies have shown that in pine forests, sawfly cocoon predation by small mammals exceeds 12.6% at the beginning of the gradation phase, 48.9% at the gradation peak, and 30.0% at the postgradation phase (Orbtel et al. 1978, Hanski & Parviainen 1985, De Somviele et al. 2007). Our study identified the peak of cocoon predation in 2006 (28.7%) (I: Figure 2), which correlated with the pine sawfly cocoon density peak in 2005. This suggests that a higher abundance of cocoons in 2005 may have helped small mammals to reproduce more effectively and increased the predation pressure on cocoons in 2006. However, our data collection period does not cover the start of the outbreak and levels of mammal predation in earlier years. This difference between our and other studies may indicate that the effect of small mammals had already been at a higher level before our study started. Bird predation had the lowest impact in 2005 (2.8%) and its peak in 2006 (25%). In the study by De Somviele et al. (2007), the predation caused by birds was only 2.9% at the

beginning of pest population gradation. The increase in bird predation in our study could be due to the behavior of birds; birds can return to habitats that can provide optimal food resources (Morris et al. 1958). The number of parasitized cocoons was low during high bird predation, which suggests that birds might also utilize cocoons with parasitoids.

To study the effect of natural enemies in the most natural circumstances possible for *D. pini* pupation into litter and soil, we intentionally avoided altering the environment with experimental planting, marking cocoons, or using plastic underlays or gauzes. Cocoons, whether in diapause or as empty because of predation or parasitism, can persist for many years, potentially causing cumulative effects in our study plots. To mitigate this, we employed relative proportions instead of densities or absolute numbers of cocoons. However, uncertainties arose from the assumed balanced input and output of predated cocoons in the study plots. The duration of cocoons in detritus until decomposition remains unresolved, posing methodological challenges that future studies should address to improve accuracy and reliability.

3.2 The impact of environmental characteristics on insect disturbance (I, II & IV)

3.2.1 The impact of stand characteristics on the natural enemies

Generally, natural enemies are more likely to be present in forests with high biodiversity, such as in forests with a high diversity of species and a high volume of dead wood (Klapwijk & Björkman 2018; Langellotto & Denno 2004). There is also evidence that the increase in dead wood does not correlate strictly with natural enemy pressure, which may also depend on other factors (Nordkvist et al., 2022). Thus, tree and stand characteristics are also likely to affect the species numbers and abundance of potential predators and parasitoids. In study I, which investigated the importance of environmental predictors for cocoon mortality of D. pini by natural enemies, we found that the most important factors explaining parasitism were basal area (m²/ha) and coverages (%) of lingonberry and lichen. With these predictors, we achieved a high overall classification accuracy of 82% with a Kappa value of 0.694 (p=0.002) by utilizing random forest analysis. Furthermore, basal area (m^2/ha), plot-wise defoliation (%), and lichen coverage (%) were the most significant predictors of predators (i.e., small mammals, invertebrate predators, and birds). The accuracy of this classification was 82%, with a Kappa value of 0.741 (P=0.000). The correlation between the proportion of predated cocoons with the mean defoliation intensity and with lingonberry coverage was negative, -0.73 and -0.74, respectively.

Basal area and stem density impact the stand's microclimate, which again can impact the occurrence of parasitoids and predators, as these organisms are sensitive to temperature and humidity (Hance et al., 2007). Different plant species found on the forest floor serve as indicators of the nutrient status and hydrology of a site (Salemaa et al. 2008). For instance, higher coverage of lichen and lingonberry suggests lower soil fertility and reduced diversity in forest floor vegetation. In Palokangas, the understory vegetation is rather poor, with site types dominated by lingonberry. Habitats with higher vegetation diversity may offer alternative food resources and shelters to natural enemies (Hanski & Parviainen 1985; Herz & Heitland 2003; Langellotto & Denno 2004). For example, Herz and Heitland (2003) found that the parasitism rate remains under 24 % in poor soils in pine forests. In study I, we found that parasitism was over 30 % in prolonged outbreaks. The habitat could also affect generalist

and specialist natural enemies differently (Bellone et al. 2020). For instance, generalist enemies may succeed in habitats with higher biodiversity, causing higher enemy pressure. In pure pine forests, this may be limited. However, according to Kouki et al. (1998) the prey species' population cycle has a more substantial impact on predation risk rather than the fertility of the forest or its stand characteristics. For example, the local vole population cycle could have affected the predation rate. Furthermore, Nordkvist et al. (2022) found that an increase in biodiversity did not affect the predation rate. They stated that an increase in dead wood can still be a key factor for pest control, but the influence may increase only with certain factors.

3.2.2 Effect of stand factors on sawfly defoliation

Topography features can have a significant role in predisposing forest sites to insect disturbances. Elevation, slope, and aspect have been studied to impact disturbances caused by defoliators (Kharuk et al. 2007; Niemelä et al. 1987). However, research on the effect of topography on insect outbreaks has focused on mountainous terrain; even smaller variations in key topographic characteristics may also enhance insect outbreak severity. In study **II**, we found that slope showed a negative correlation with defoliation caused by the sawfly. Elevation did not significantly affect the defoliation severity caused by *D. pini*. The defoliation was higher in sites with less steep slopes. Notably, the study area was rather flat, having an elevation from 165 to 200 m a.s.l. and a mean slope of a plot from 1 to 14° . Other studies have found that elevation could influence the defoliator's performance (Kantola et al. 2014; Niemelä et al. 1987; Paritsis et al. 2011). For example, *N. sertifer* has been shown to cause more severe defoliation in higher elevations than in lower areas (Niemelä et al. 1987). They found that the results could be due to an increase in the nutritional quality of the needles for the larvae as the nitrogen content of the needles increased with increasing elevation.

Accordingly, the mean defoliation was significantly more severe in more fertile areas. More specifically, the greater fertility was associated with high N content of the humus layer and lower C/N ratios of the humus layer but also high contents of fine soil textures (<0.02 mm = medium silt and finer) in B-horizon (Spearman's correlation coefficients (ρ) = 0.45, -0.68 and 0.44, respectively, with p-values <0.05). We also found that defoliation was more pronounced with thicker soil in the (Ah+)E-horizon layer (II, table 4, Fig 2). However, the thickness of the humus layer did not correlate between defoliation classes. Among the soil factors, the thickness of the (Ah+)E-horizon layer was the only one that correlated with topography – negatively with slope (Spearman's correlation coefficients (ρ) = -0.49). This means that the thickness of the (Ah+)E-horizon increases with a decreasing slope. Soil pH was relatively low, with a plot mean pH of 4.03, which means higher acidity. A low pH value decreases the availability of most nutrients, which can lead to limited tree vitality.

Interestingly, we also found that the thickness of the (Ah+)E-horizon showed the most accurate classification in predicting the likelihood of a plot experiencing *moderate to severe* (>20%) defoliation. With that predictor variable, we gained an accuracy of 88% with a Kappa-value of 0.65 (model 1). Other environmental variable combinations that predicted *moderate to severe* defoliation classes were: the C/N ratio and pH of the humus layer, with an accuracy of 86% and Kappa-value of 0.58 (model 2), C/N ratio of B-horizon and slope, with accuracy of 85% and Kappa-value of 0.57 (model 3), and N concentration and pH of humus layer, with accuracy of 82% and Kappa-value of 0.5 (model 4) (II, Table 5).

The relationship between soil nitrogen content and insect damage is complex and contextdependent. High nitrogen levels may promote the performance of certain herbivores, but they 32

can also affect plant defenses that deter or affect insect performance negatively. For example, nitrogen is a limiting nutrient for herbivorous insects (Lee et al. 2008; Mattson 1980) and therefore, likely to be an important part of the sawflies' diet (Lyytikäinen 1994). Furthermore, nitrogen also impacts the secondary chemistry of tree (e.g. Björkman et al. 1991). An input of N increases the palatability of the needles but, at the same time, changes the C/N ratio (Li et al., 2016). It has been assumed that sawfly defoliation is more severe in sites with relatively poor soil fertility (i.e., low N, high C/N ratio). For example, Larsson and Tenow (1984) found that an outbreak of N. sertifer was more common at sites without N fertilization. D. pini outbreaks have also been found to be more severe in sites with low fertility (Nevalainen et al. 2015). The range in fertility was relatively limited (mostly CT site type) in our study sites, which could have been affected by these partly contradictory results of fertility interactions and defoliation severity. Notably, the outbreak was prolonged and continued over a long period, which could have affected the results. Insect herbivores can also alter soil factors, for example, by adding nutrients through frass (Frost & Hunter 2007; Kaukonen et al. 2013). However, we did find a strong correlation between the nitrogen content of the humus layer and fine soil particle proportion in B-horizon, which indicates rather long-term nutrient status of the site than being a consequence of D. pini defoliation.

3.2.3 The impact of environmental characteristics on the bark beetle damage

Generally, it is assumed that *I. typographus* infests large trees more than smaller ones (e.g., Zolubas et al. 2009). Sproull et al. (2015) and Jakuš et al. (2011) found that smaller trees were more likely to be infested. Differences between the results could be due to the outbreak phase of *I. typographus* or the thickness of the spruce bark in large tree trunks. For example, differences can be found in whether the infested tree is a windfall or standing tree. In the endemic phase of *I. typographus*, tree size may be more important than other factors, unlike in the epidemic phase when population pressure diminishes the significance of host selection based on size, i.e., age (Hlásny et al. 2021; Junttila et al. 2024). Junttila et al. (2024) found that tree mortality, presumably by *I. typographus*, in younger trees had increased from latent phase to outbreak. Between the *I. typographus infestation index classes*, tree density and proportion of spruces were not significantly different (**IV**: Figure 2). Tree dbh in the *severe infestation class* was lower compared to the *no infestation class*. However, this could be because the diameter of the largest trees was over 60 cm within the study plots; the bark of that large tree is not optimal for *I. typographus* reproduction. Varying results have been shown in terms of tree size and infestations.

The tree species composition did not clearly affect the *I. typographus* infestation in our study. However, the tree species composition was more mixed in the *no infestation* and *moderate infestation classes*. Birch and aspen were found in the study area as admixture tree species. However, other studies have found (Hilszczanski et al. 2006; Huo et al. 2024; Kärvemo et al. 2016) conflicting results about the effects of mixed trees on *I. typographus*. It is generally thought that multiple tree species composition reduces the risk of *I. typographus*, for example by creating a more pronounced generalist predation pressure (Kozhoridze et al. 2024), but Huo et al. (2024) found that the deciduous trees exposed spruces to *I. typographus*. Presumably, this is because they used a pheromone attractant, which has resulted in greater pressure on individuals in the area and forced those in the spruces within the stand. Studies, such as ours, have often been carried out in areas where the share of spruce

trees has already been significant, thus providing the bark beetle a favorable environment for breeding.

The variations of the plot elevations were 86 and 151 m a.s.l, and the slope was 2.6 and 44.5%. The *severe infestation class* significantly differed from other classes in terms of aspect. Sandy moraine deposit (n=21) was the main soil texture among the plots, but there were also plots with shallow till (n=10), sandy soil (n=6), and finer textured soil (n=6). Soil texture in the *severe infestation index class* significantly differed from other classes (p=0.000). The plots displayed varying soil volumetric stone content ranging from 0.5% to 63.5%. Humus layer thickness varied significantly (p=0.015) between *moderate* and *severe infestation index classes* and ranged from 0.1 to 13.3 cm based on soil samples. Mineral soil C/N ratios varied between 13.7 and 21.4%.

In CLM, model 1, with aspect, site type, and slope, showed that severe infestation class was most likely to occur on eastern aspects with moderately steep slopes and OMT or OMaT site types (Figure 7). In steeper slopes, the cumulative probability for moderate infestation was also relatively high on south-facing aspects. Otherwise, the probability for severe infestation was relatively low in such aspects. Plots with a southern aspect, very gently slope, and MT site type had the lowest probability for *I. typographus* infestation. Model 2, with aspect, site type, and soil texture, indicated that the sites most vulnerable to severe infestation were those with an eastern aspect, OMaT site type, and shallow till soil texture (Figure 8). In southwest-facing slopes, the probability of severe infestation was very low, but the probability of moderate infestation was relatively high. Severe infestation was less than 0.1 for most other sites, with a slight increase in moderate and severe infestation for shallow soils.

We also studied how the topsoil C/N ratio acts when it is applied to the model with other important environmental factors (Model 3 AIC=711.8, $\Delta AIC=18.77$) despite there being no significant differences between the three infestation index classes (IV: Table 4) and with the aspect, site type, and mineral soil C/N ratio implied that a higher mineral soil C/N ratio increased the probability of severe infestation (IV: Figure 5). The maximum probability was gained in the east-facing sites with OMaT site type. The lowest probability for severe infestation was found in plots with south-facing aspects and MT site type. However, with the same input, the probability of *moderate infestation* increased with a higher C/N ratio. Our results with the increasing C/N ratio seem to benefit bark beetles. This was a contradiction to assumptions that high soil C/N ratios indicate low soil N availability, leading to lower soil fertility (Stevenson and Cole 1999) and, thus, probably, lower reproduction of bark beetles (Goodsman et al. 2012). This difference may be due to the combined effects of the aspect. Low soil C/N ratios indicate higher soil N availability, leading to greater soil fertility. Bark beetles can benefit from this due to the optimal nutritional value of the phloem. In addition, soil C/N ratio influences tree c-based defense compounds (Raffa et al. 2015). Since there was no significant difference in soil C and N concentrations or the C/N ratio (IV: Figure 2), interpreting the relationship between these variables and infestation remains speculative.



Figure 7. Cumulative infestation probabilities are based on model 1, with explanatory factors as aspect class + slope + site type and aspect class set to east $(67.5^{\circ}-112.5^{\circ})$. Order from left to right of site types reflects its relative fertility (from less fertile to more fertile; MT = mesic, relatively fertile, OMT = herb-rich, and OMaT = fertile groves) and slope from gently to steeper sloping sites. Figure adapted from study IV (Blomqvist et al. 2018).



Figure 8. According to *model 2*, cumulative infestation probabilities with explanatory factors as aspect class + site type + soil type for slopes having east aspect ($67.5^{\circ}-112.5$). Order from left to right of site types reflects its relative fertility (from less fertile to more fertile; MT = mesic, relatively fertile, OMT = herb-rich, and OMaT = fertile grove) and soil texture class from finer to coarser soil. Figure adapted from study **IV** (Blomqvist et al. 2018).

When comparing the three models mentioned, we found that *model 1* was the most accurate (AIC weight=0.999). After all, *models 2* and 3 were found to be relatively poorly supported in the pair-wise comparison of all three models (IV: Table 6). However, they were all significant, and the convergence criteria were fulfilled (IV: Table 5).

Overall, the results showed that the severity of the infestation could be explained by the environmental factors studied. Combining the most important variables, we gained high cumulative probabilities for different infestation levels. Over 70% of the *moderately* or *severely infested* trees were in eastern aspects, and almost 80% on shallow till. The results were promising and showed that the sites with severe infestation are the most vulnerable sites for *I. typographus*. Aspect and site type were given high probabilities in CLM modeling when one of them was included in the model; thus, those were included in all model variations. Our results showed that more fertile site types were most predisposed to *severe infestation*. Other studies from Finland found that tree mortality or forest management operations due to *I. typographus* occurred most in forests with mesic heath (correspond to OMT, *Oxalis-Myrtillus*-type) or herb-rich heath (correspond to MT, *Myrtillus-type*) forests (Junttila et al. 2024, Pulgarin et al. 2024). In addition, Pulgarin et al. (2024) found that stands with *I. typographus* damage were growing on semi-coarse or coarse heath forest soils.

However, it has been shown that host tree preferences may vary with the outbreak phase (Mezei et al., 2014). More severe infestations have also been found in thin soils (Worrel 1983). Thinner soils have limited water availability, resulting in more stressed trees. Water stress diminishes trees' resistance towards bark beetles by reducing defense compounds, such as resin (Kolb et al. 2019). Eastern and northeastern aspects were more prone to severe infestations. In contrast, southern and southwestern aspects have lower probabilities of severe infestation. However, they can experience moderate infestations, particularly when combined with specific site characteristics like OMaT site types on shallow till. One explanation could be that beetles may avoid slopes with excessive insolation, such as some southern and southwestern aspects, where temperatures can become lethal for them (Powell 1967). The species may also prefer more shady sites with more Norway spruce (Christiansen & Bakke 1988), such as those that might be in our study area. Higher pheromone trap catches on eastern and northeastern aspects are also found (Jurc et al., 2006). In Sweden, Huo et al. (2024) found similar results to ours; the north and east aspects were more infested than other aspects. Furthermore, the slope was an important variable in stand predisposition for I. typographus. Slope steepness also influences microclimate but has a less pronounced effect on infestation intensity than aspect. Although steeper slopes had a higher probability of severe infestation, this factor did not significantly vary between infestation levels in our study.

There may have been factors that affected the results. We did not know the initial damage timing nor what has been the infestation pattern before our study period because the outbreak had already begun a few years before; thus, we do not know the exact pattern and predisposition of stands. Infestations and the severity of *I. typographus* damage can be affected by the outbreak phase. Thus, different factors can be important depending on whether it is a latent, pre-outbreak, outbreak, or post-outbreak phase (Mezei et al. 2014; Wermelinger 2004). There have also been tree cuttings from the study plots that may have had an influence first on the trees that have been removed but also on the plot-wise results; the number of stumps was not considered. Thus, we do not know the exact situation before infestations. It also could have been realistic to classify the trees only into two categories. However, we could have missed information about the spruce trees that suffered, not only

the infestation itself but also other stressors that can lead to future infestations of *I. typographus*.

3.3 Defoliation caused by D. pini and growth and economic losses (I, II, III)

3.3.1 Defoliation as a symptom of D. pini outbreak

In all three studies concerning *D. pini*, we utilized defoliation of the pine trees from the study plots to describe the population level of the sawfly. In **I**, we used plot-wise mean defoliation. In **II**, defoliation was classified as *mild* and *moderate to severe*, and in **III** *low*, *mild*, *moderate* and *high*. In **II**, mean defoliation in the *mild* defoliation class was 10% (n=21), and in the *moderate to severe* defoliation class, 54% (n=7) (**II**: Table 1). Defoliation varied considerably between the plots in **I** (Figure 9). Seven of eleven plots recovered shortly after the initial outbreak to the level before the outbreak. However, the outbreak continued in four plots and peaked in 2004 (assessed in May 2005, as seen in Figure 9).

While defoliation reduces the important photosynthetic parts of trees, it is a visible symptom that can be used to assess the overall health of a tree (Jacquet et al. 2012). By classifying the health of the tree or the occurrence of insects, it is possible to determine the intensity of defoliation on a tree-by-tree basis. The severity and timing of defoliation depend on the feeding period of the insect. For example, the *D. pini* feeds on later summer and consumes all needle age classes, causing significant damage at outbreak densities. Although extended outbreaks can lead to tree death, this is still uncommon (Långström et al. 2001). In Palokangas, tree deaths were rare, but they were found especially in study plots near clear-cutting areas. This suggests that other stressors could have impacted tree health. The sawfly-



Figure 9. The mean defoliation intensity of 11 sampling plots from study I (figure adopted from Blomqvist et al. 2016).

induced defoliation changed over time, indicating that the population of sawflies fluctuated or changed spatially.

The assessment of defoliation into classes with ten percentage intervals could be challenging. However, the assessment was based on an imaginary health tree growing in such an area. Experts calibrated their eyes to match, and at least two sides of the tree assessed every individual tree.

3.3.2 Growth and economic losses

Tree-ring analysis was used to investigate the growth and economic losses during the outbreak of *D. pini*. In **III**, we found that radial growth was influenced by the previous season's defoliation almost every study year (Figure 10, **III**: Table 2), indicating that tree growth decreased when defoliation intensity increased. The annual growth indices significantly differed between at least two defoliation classes almost every study year. The growth indices of low and high defoliation classes were significantly different.



Figure 10. The relationships between radial growth (n+1, mm) and defoliation (n, %) of the study trees (black circles) in scatter plots. Gray lines represent regression lines (figure adopted from Blomqvist et al. 2022 Supplementary materials).

Growth reductions were observed across the mild, moderate, and high defoliation classes (III: Table 3). Trees categorized in the healthiest class experienced a slightly increased volume compared to the baseline period of 1989–1998. However, the other three defoliation classes experienced losses of 4.2%, 20.8 and 40.4%, and the cumulative economic impact of defoliation for the 11-year outbreak was estimated at 51 \in , 272 \in , and 734 \in per hectare for the mild, moderate, and high defoliation classes, respectively.

We observed how different levels of defoliation affected the growth of *P. sylvestris* trees. Low defoliation showed minor changes in growth, while mild and moderate defoliation led to a typical V-shaped growth pattern (Långström et al. 2001), with mild defoliation, almost fully recovered by the end of the study. However, trees with moderate to high defoliation did not fully recover during the study period. Complete recovery from severe defoliation may take up to a decade due to various factors such as declined carbohydrate reserves (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa et al. 2006). This was observable in Palokangas too.

Several factors contributed to the impact of insect outbreaks on tree growth and economic losses. First, prolonged outbreaks causing severe defoliation can result in missing annual growth rings, making the detection challenging (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa et al. 2006). In addition, economic loss estimation could be hindered by a lack of data on tree mortality and forest management expenses. The financial consequences of cumulative defoliation for the whole outbreak and the whole study area (34.5 km², (Kantola et al. 2013), even with the mild defoliation, could be 178 500 \notin for the 11-year outbreak. This does not include all forest management operations carried out due to the outbreak: sanitation felling and forest regeneration. Also, *D. pini* spread to the surrounding sampling stands from the clear-cut area. If the overall effects on the area (10,000 ha, Kantola et al. 2013) where *D. pini* has caused needle loss during the outbreak are estimated, we are discussing considerable totals.

The subsequent attacks by pine shoot beetles (*Tomicus* sp.) might have reduced tree growth further by cutting off shoots and affecting tree water balance. In Palokangas, some areas had suffered their influence, intensifying the effect of D. pini; thus, these species attacked especially trees with severe defoliation. In addition, growth calculations were based on a ten-year reference period before the initial outbreak, assuming stability in tree functions. Fluctuations in defoliation from year to year introduced potential errors.

Cumulative defoliation as an explanatory factor could have been an option for investigating the effect of defoliation on tree growth. However, it can be hard to interpret due to the possible high sum that is not unambiguous. Therefore, these broader classes could be more straightforward to understand. We investigated the tree-wise variation between the years and excluded trees with considerable variation within defoliation during the study period.

It would be interesting to study the overall interplay between defoliation level, natural enemies, tree growth, and stand factors from studies **I-III** in future studies. It has been noted that climatic factors affect *D. pini* performance more than many other biotic and abiotic factors (Hentschel et al. 2018)Thus, it would be feasible to add climatic variables to study the mutual effects of these factors. We should also research how different forest management practices, such as continuous cover forestry, rotation length, and stand development class composition, can influence intensity and dispersal.

3.4 Implications for forest management

In Finland, we have not yet experienced large outbreaks caused by insect pests as much as in Central Europe and Southern Sweden. However, we are shifting along a similar trajectory, and there is potential for intensive outbreaks in the future in Finland (Venäläinen et al. 2020). More extensive forest disturbances have been avoided in Finland because the cooler climate has been a limiting factor (Aalto & Venäläinen 2021). Forests in Finland have traditionally been managed by doing one or two thinning with a clear-cutting at the end of the rotation period. Forest hygiene with monocultures and marginal dead wood has been a part of forestry. Previously, such forest management was also assumed to limit insect disturbances. With the current forest management practices and the existing forest structure, it may not be possible to avoid widespread disturbances in the future. Intensive forest management has disadvantages in forest resilience towards insect-induced disturbances. For example, it is known that low biodiversity directly affects natural enemies, reducing their number, especially the number of specialists, affecting the regulation of the insect population.

The methods used to prevent the spread of insect pests are currently sanitation felling and salvage logging (Weslien et al. 2024). Sanitation logging minimizes bark beetle spread from infested trees, and salvage logging is operated to save timber value (Stadelmann et al. 2013; Pietzsch et al. 2021). The latter usually means clear-cutting. It can be an effective solution for dealing with bark beetles in commercial forests to ensure income (Kulakowski 2016). Implementing the management operations at the right time in important; for example, felling during the wintertime does not produce the desired result with bark beetles (Weslien et al. 2024). It has been studied that winter felling diminishes the potential natural enemy complex more than cutting the bark beetle population (Weslien et al. 2024). However, salvage logging can also increase the presence of pests, such as sawflies, by driving hatching insects to forest edge areas and seedling stands, which was the situation in Palokangas.

Specific forest stand and landscape characteristics and management strategies could reduce the risk of insect-induced disturbances (Jactel et al. 2009; Marini et al. 2022). Now, it seems the solution to mitigate insect damage would be to make forests more resilient and resistant to large-scale insect damage. A diverse range of tree species in the forest can minimize financial losses caused by disturbances to monocultures. To mitigate the *D. pini* outbreaks, the heterogeneity of the forest should be increased. This could be implemented by increasing the diversity of tree species (especially adding more deciduous trees), diversity in age structure, and stand characteristics (Marini et al. 2022). All above also increases the resources for natural enemies (Nordkvist et al. 2022). Mainly the same factors help forests to achieve better resilience to mitigate bark beetle outbreaks. In addition, a clear decrease in the planting of Norway spruce but also a shortening of the rotation period of spruce-dominated forests (i.e., reducing resources for *I. typographus*) is crucial for preventing large-scale outbreaks (López-Andújar Fustel et al. 2024).

Furthermore, the effectiveness of the Forest Damages Prevention Act (20.12.2013/1087) should be frequently and openly evaluated, and stricter legislation, such as in Sweden, may need to be considered in the most vulnerable areas. In most parts of Sweden, forest owners are allowed to leave under $5m^3$ /ha of recently damaged coniferous wood in the forest, and in some parts, the amount is only $3m^3$ /ha of recently dead wood in areas with high *I. typographus* populations. In Finland, the amount is 10 m³/ha. Nevertheless, there is a need to understand and emphasize the possible trade-offs between strict legislation or selected forest management practices and nature conservation or biodiversity (Filazzola et al. 2021; Thom & Seidl 2016). The negative effects of large-scale insect disturbances have been studied to

be primarily negative on different ecosystem services but mainly positive on biodiversity, but not all cases are straightforward (Thom & Seidl 2016). For example, extending the rotation period would be a solution to maintaining carbon sinks, but it could also create optimal breeding material for wood-boring insects. Furthermore, the possible presence of root rot of spruce (*Heterobasidion parviporum*) would further weaken the condition of trees in continuous cover forestry, exposing them to bark beetles.

Consequently, site-specific, and detailed forest management, including integrated pest management (IPM) and continuous use of modern tools like satellite imagery or drones to detect initial disturbances in time (e.g., Näsi et al. 2018 Junttila et al. 2024 López-Andújar Fustel et al. 2024) is essential for proactive risk management in forestry. To minimize large-scale insect disturbances in the future, we need a national strategy that includes cooperation between different actors, open communication, consistent policy, and shared operating methods. By considering these facts, we can prepare for and minimize future insect damage.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Changes in the population and outbreak vulnerability of insect pests are promoted or limited by changes in climate, such as increased periods of drought. In addition to the climate, very important driving factors are the forest stand and tree factors, the regulation of natural enemies, and human-caused changes in the forest, i.e., forest management methods. Studying the interactions between these topics is important to understand what kind of habitats are susceptible to insect pests.

My dissertation's results show that ecological and environmental characteristics influence the magnitude of disturbances caused by pest insects. We found that during six years of high sawfly population density, the influence of natural enemies on the cocoon stage was stabilized. The site fertility in the study area was relatively low, which probably affected the presence of natural enemies and their interaction within natural enemy groups and between pest/host species. The disturbance was severe and prolonged, especially in some stands; nevertheless, the natural enemy complex was relatively strong, decreasing the proportion of current hatched sawflies. The environment was relatively harsh in those stands, and some trees were growing in a patch surrounded by clearcuts. Defoliation yielded up to 40 % growth losses in the hotspot areas, leading to apparent economic losses. Although our study plots generally exhibited poor fertility and minimal topographical variation, we observed that *D. pini* defoliation of *P. sylvestris* trees was more severe on the more fertile and flatter sites than on the less fertile and steeper ones. The findings highlight that soil and terrain conditions significantly influence pine sawfly population dynamics and disturbance caused by the sawfly.

Lastly, we developed an infestation index to classify Norway spruces based on infestation intensity using crown and trunk symptoms. Using cumulative link modeling, we analyzed the predisposition of sites to *I. typographus* infestations in mature urban forests of southern Finland. We propose that factors affecting soil moisture and fertility, such as slope and soil texture, play a significant role in the risk of *I. typographus* attacks and tree resistance. Topographic features that moderate microclimatic conditions also influence bark beetle

attraction. *Severe infestation* was associated with eastern aspects, moderately steep slopes, the most fertile site types, and shallow soil.

The dissertation dealt with two different insects that are classified as forest pests because they play a significant role in forestry in Finnish forests. Understanding the interplay between environmental factors, forest management practices, and pest dynamics is crucial for mitigating the negative impacts of insect-induced damage on forest ecosystems and their ecological and economic values. It is important to get more knowledge about the factors affecting forest insect pest performance, their interaction with host trees, and their association with other environmental factors and natural enemies to understand these population dynamics better. Furthermore, there should be an increasing understanding of the big picture dealing with large-scale insect disturbances and trade-offs with biodiversity.

REFERENCES

- Aalto J, Venäläinen A (2021) Climate change and forest management affect forest fire risk in Fennoscandia. Finnish Meteorologica Institute, Reports 3: 1–158. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10138/330898</u>.
- Akaike H (1987) Factor analysis and AIC. In E. Parzen, K. Tanabe, & G. Kitagawa (Eds.), Selected papers of Hirotugu Akaike (pp. 371–386) Springer series in statistics (perspectives in statistics) Springer.
- Alalouni U, Schädler M, Brandl R (2013) Natural enemies and environmental factors affecting the population dynamics of the gypsy moth. J App Entomol 137: 721– 738. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jen.12072</u>.
- Annila E (1969) Influence of temperature upon the development and voltinism of *Ips typographus* L. (Coleoptera, Scolytidae) Ann Zool Fennici 6: 161–208.
- Austarå Ø, Orlund A, Svendsrud A, Veidahl A (1987) Growth loss and economic consequences following two years defoliation of *Pinus sylvestris* by the pine sawfly *Neodiprion sertifer* in West-Norway. Scand J For Res 2: 111–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02827588709382450</u>.
- Baier P (1996) Defence reactions of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* Karst.) to controlled attacks of *Ips typographus* (L.) (Col., Scolytidae) in relation to tree parameters. J App Entomol 120: 587–593. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.1996.tb01656.x</u>.
- Baier P, Führer E, Kirisits T, Rosner S (2002) Defence reactions of Norway spruce against bark beetles and the associated fungus *Ceratocystis polonica* in secondary pure and mixed species stands. For Ecol Manag 159: 73–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00711-3</u>.
- Barbaro L, Battisti A (2011) Birds as predators of the pine processionary moth (Lepidoptera: Notodontidae) BioControl 56: 107–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2010.10.009</u>.

- Bartos D, Amman G (1989) Microclimate: an alternative to tree vigor as a basis for mountain pine beetle infestations. USDA Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. Paper INT-400, Ogden, UT.
- Bellone D, Björkman C, Klapwijk MJ (2020) Top-down pressure by generalist and specialist natural enemies in relation to habitat heterogeneity and resource availability. BAAE 43: 16– 26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2019.10.005</u>.
- Bellone D, Klapwijk MJ, Björkman C (2017) Habitat heterogeneity affects predation of European pine sawfly cocoons. Eco Evol 7: 11011–11020. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3632.
- Bentz BJ, Hansen EM, Davenport M, Soderberg D (2022) Complexities in predicting mountain pine beetle and spruce beetle response to climate change. In: Bark Beetle Management, Ecology, and Climate Change. Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-822145-7.00013-1</u>.
- Bentz BJ, Jönsson AM, Schroeder M, Weed A, Wilcke RAI, Larsson K (2019) *Ips typographus* and *Dendroctonus ponderosae* Models Project Thermal Suitability for Intra- and Inter-Continental Establishment in a Changing Climate. Front For Glob Change 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/ffgc.2019.00001</u>.
- Berryman A (1986) Forest insects: principles and practice of population management. Plenum Press, New York.
- Berryman AA, Stenseth N, Isaev AS (1987) Natural regulation of herbivorous forest insect populations. Oecologia. 71: 174–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00377282</u>.
- Biedermann PHW, Müller J, Grégoire J-C, Gruppe A, Hagge J, Hammerbacher A, Hofstetter RW, Kandasamy D, Kolarik M, Kostovcik M, Krokene P, Sallé A, Six DL, Turrini T, Vanderpool D, Wingfield MJ, Bässler C (2019) Bark Beetle Population Dynamics in the Anthropocene: Challenges and Solutions. TREE 34: 914–924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2019.06.002.
- Björkman C, Larsson S, Gref R (1991) Effects of nitrogen fertilization on pine needle chemistry and sawfly performance. Oecologia. 86: 202–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00317532</u>.
- Blomqvist M, Kosunen M, Starr M, Kantola T, Holopainen M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P (2018) Modelling the predisposition of Norway spruce to *Ips typographus* L. infestation by means of environmental factors in southern Finland. Eur J For Res 137: 675–691. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-018-1133-0.
- Blomqvist M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Kantola T, Kosunen M, Talvitie M, Holopainen M (2016) Impacts of natural enemies and stand characteristics on cocoon mortality of the pine sawfly *Diprion pini* in a Fennoscandian boreal forest. Silva Fenn 50: 20. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1615</u>.

- Blomqvist M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Kosunen M, Kantola T, Holopainen M (2022) Defoliation-induced growth reduction of *Pinus sylvestris* L. after a prolonged outbreak of Diprion pini L.—a case study from eastern Finland. Forests 13: 839. https://doi.org/10.3390/f13060839.
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR, Huyvaert KP (2011) AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 65: 23–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1029-6</u>.
- Christensen R (2015a) Analysis of ordinal data with cumulative link models—estimation with the R-package ordinal. <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/ordinal/</u>. Accessed 5 Oct 2017.
- Christensen R (2015b) A tutorial on fitting cumulative link models with the ordinal package. <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/ordinal/</u>. Accessed 5 Oct 2017.
- Christiansen E, Bakke A (1988) The Spruce Bark Beetle of Eurasia. In: Berryman, A.A. (eds) Dynamics of Forest Insect Populations. Population Ecology. Springer, Boston, MA. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-0789-9_23</u>.
- Crawford HS, Jennings DT (1989) Predation by birds on spruce budworm *Choristoneura fumiferana*: Functional, Numerical, and Total Responses. Ecology 70: 152–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1938422</u>.
- Damien M, Tougeron K (2019) Prey–predator phenological mismatch under climate change. Curr Opin Insect Sci 35: 60–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2019.07.002</u>.
- De Somviele B, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Niemelä P (2004) Sawfly (Hym., Diprionidae) outbreaks on Scots pine: Effect of stand structure, site quality and relative tree position on defoliation intensity. For Ecol Manag 194: 305–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.02.023.
- De Somviele B, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Niemelä P (2007a) Stand edge effects on distribution and condition of Diprionid sawflies. Agric For Entomol 9: 17–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-9563.2006.00313.x.
- Eveleigh ES, McCann KS, McCarthy PC, Pollock SJ, Lucarotti CJ, Morin B, McDougall GA, Strongman DB, Huber JT, Umbanhowar J, Faria LDB (2007) Fluctuations in density of an outbreak species drive diversity cascades in food webs. PNAS 104: 16976–16981. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704301104.
- Fernandez-Carrillo A, Patočka Z, Dobrovolný L, Franco-Nieto A, Revilla-Romero B (2020) Monitoring Bark Beetle Forest Damage in Central Europe. A Remote Sensing Approach Validated with Field Data. Remote Sens 12: 3634. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12213634</u>.
- Filazzola A, Matter SF, MacIvor JS (2021) The direct and indirect effects of extreme climate events on insects. Sci Total Environ 769: 145161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145161.

- Forrest JR (2016) Complex responses of insect phenology to climate change. Curr Opin Insect Sci 17: 49–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2016.07.002</u>.
- Forzieri G, Pecchi M, Girardello M, Mauri A, Klaus M, Nikolov C, Rüetschi M, Gardiner B, Tomaštík J, Small D, Nistor C, Jonikavicius D, Spinoni J, Feyen L, Giannetti F, Comino R, Wolynski A, Pirotti F, Maistrelli F, Savulescu I, Wurpillot-Lucas S, Karlsson S, Zieba-Kulawik K, Strejczek-Jazwinska P, Mokroš M, Franz S, Krejci L, Haidu I, Nilsson M, Wezyk P, Catani F, Chen Y-Y, Luyssaert S, Chirici G, Cescatti A, Beck PSA (2020) A spatially explicit database of wind disturbances in European forests over the period 2000–2018. Earth Syst Sci Data 12: 257–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-12-257-2020</u>.
- Frost CJ, Hunter MD (2007) Recycling of nitrogen in herbivore feces: plant recovery, herbivore assimilation, soil retention, and leaching losses. Oecologia. 151: 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-006-0579-9.
- Geri (1988) The Pine Sawfly in Central France. In: Berryman A.A. (eds) Dynamics of Forest Insect Populations. Population Ecology (Theory and Application) Penum Press, New York.
- Goodsman DW, Erbilgin N, Lieffers VJ (2012) The impact of phloem nutrients on overwintering mountain pine beetles and their fungal symbionts. Environ Entomol 41: 478–486. https://doi.org/10.1603/EN11205.
- Haavisto-Hyvärinen M, Kutvonen H (2007) Maaperäkartan käyttöopas. Geological Survey of Finland, Espoo.
- Hance T, van Baaren J, Vernon P, Boivin G (2007) Impact of extreme temperatures on parasitoids in a climate change perspective. Annu Rev Entomol 52: 107–126. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.52.110405.091333.
- Hanski I, Parviainen P (1985) Cocoon predation by small mammals, and pine sawfly population dynamics. Oikos. 45: 125. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3565230</u>.
- Hentschel R, Möller K, Wenning A, Degenhardt A, Schröder J (2018) Importance of ecological variables in explaining population dynamics of three important pine pest insects. Front Plant Sci 9, 389720. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01667</u>.
- Hertz M (1933) Tutkimuksia tavallisesta mäntypistiäisestä (*Lophyrus pini* L.) ja sen metsätaloudel lisesta merkityksestä. [Studies of common pine sawfly (*Lophyrus pini* L.) and its significance in forestry]. Metsätieteellisen Tutkimuslaitoksen Julkaisuja. 18.
- Herz A, Heitland W (2003) Impact of cocoon predation and parasitism on endemic populations of the common pine sawfly, *Diprion pini* (L.) (Hymenoptera, Diprionidae) in different forest types. Agric For Entomol 5: 35–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-9563.2003.00160.x</u>.
- Hilszczanski J, Janiszewski W, Negron J, Munson AS (2006) Stand characteristics and *Ips typographus* (L.) (Col., Curculionidae, Scolytinae) infestation during outbreak in northeastern Poland. Folia For Pol 48: 53–64.

- Hlásny T, König L, Krokene P, Lindner M, Montagné-Huck C, Müller J, Qin H, Raffa KF, Schelhaas M-J, Svoboda M, Viiri H, Seidl R (2021) Bark beetle outbreaks in europe: state of knowledge and ways forward for management. Curr For Rep 7: 138–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-021-00142-x</u>.
- Hodkinson ID (2005) Terrestrial insects along elevation gradients: species and community responses to altitude. Biol Rev 80: 489–513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1464793105006767</u>.
- Huo L, Persson HJ, Lindberg E (2024) Analyzing the environmental risk factors of European spruce bark beetle damage at the local scale. Eur J For Res 143: 985–1000. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-024-01662-4.
- Jacquet JS, Bosc A, O'Grady A, Jactel H (2014) Combined effects of defoliation and water stress on pine growth and non-structural carbohydrates. Tree Physiol 34: 367–376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpu018</u>.
- Jacquet J-S, Orazio C, Jactel H (2012) Defoliation by processionary moth significantly reduces tree growth: a quantitative review. Ann For Sci 69: 857–866. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-012-0209-0</u>.
- Jactel H, Koricheva J, Castagneyrol B (2019) Responses of forest insect pests to climate change: not so simple. Curr Opin Insect Sci 35: 103–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2019.07.010</u>.
- Jactel H, Nicoll BC, Branco M, Gonzalez-Olabarria JR, Grodzki W, Långström B, Moreira F, Netherer S, Orazio C, Piou D, Santos H, Schelhaas MJ, Tojic K, Vodde F (2009) The influences of forest stand management on biotic and abiotic risks of damage. Ann For Sci 66: 701–701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/forest/2009054</u>.
- Jaime L, Batllori E, Lloret F (2024) Bark beetle outbreaks in coniferous forests: a review of climate change effects. Eur J For Res 143: 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-023-01623-3</u>.
- Jakuš R, Edwards-Jonášová M, Cudlín P, Blaženec M, Ježík M, Havlíček F, Moravec I (2011) Characteristics of Norway spruce trees (*Picea abies*) surviving a spruce bark beetle (*Ips typographus* L.) outbreak. Trees 25: 965–973. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-011-0571-9</u>.
- Junttila S, Blomqvist M, Laukkanen V, Heinaro E, Polvivaara A, O'Sullivan H, Yrttimaa T, Vastaranta M, Peltola H (2024) Significant increase in forest canopy mortality in boreal forests in Southeast Finland. For Ecol Manag 565: 122020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2024.122020</u>.
- Jurc M, Perko M, Džeroski S, Demšar D, Hrašovec B (2006) Spruce bark beetles (*Ips typographus, Pityogenes chalcographus*, Col.: Scolytidae) in the Dinaric Mountain forests of Slovenia: Monitoring and modeling. Ecol Modell 194: 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.10.014.

- Kaiser KE, Mcglynn BL, Emanuel RE (2013) Ecohydrology of an outbreak: Mountain pine beetle impacts trees in drier landscape positions first. Ecohydrology 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.1286</u>.
- Kaltz O, Shykoff JA (2002) Within- and among-population variation in infectivity, latency and spore production in a host-pathogen system. J Evol Biol 15: 850–860. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1420-9101.2002.00433.x.
- Kantola T, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Coulson RN, Strauch S, Tchakerian MD, Holopainen M, Saarenmaa H, Streett DA (2014) Spatial Distribution of Hemlock Woolly Adelgid Induced Hemlock Mortality in the Southern Appalachians. Open J For 04: 492–506. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/ojf.2014.45053</u>.
- Kantola T, Vastaranta M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Holopainen M, Kankare V, Talvitie M, Hyyppä J (2013) Classification of Needle Loss of Individual Scots Pine Trees by Means of Airborne Laser Scanning. Forests 4: 386–403. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f4020386</u>.
- Kärvemo S, Johansson V, Schroeder M, Ranius T (2016) Local colonization-extinction dynamics of a tree-killing bark beetle during a large-scale outbreak. Ecosphere 7: e01257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1257</u>.
- Kärvemo S, Rogell B, Schroeder M (2014) Dynamics of spruce bark beetle infestation spots: Importance of local population size and landscape characteristics after a storm disturbance. For Ecol Manag 334: 232–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.09.011</u>.
- Kaukonen M, Ruotsalainen A-L, Wäli P, Männistö M, Setälä H, Saravesi K, Huusko K, Markkola A (2013) Moth herbicory enchances resource turnover in subarctic mountain birch forests? Ecology 94: 267–272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/12-0917.1</u>.
- Kharuk VI, Ranson KJ, Fedotova E V. (2007) Spatial pattern of Siberian silkmoth outbreak and taiga mortality. Scand J For Res 22: 531–536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580701763656</u>.
- Kidd NAC, Jervis MA (1997) The impact of parasitoids and predators on forest insect populations. In: Forests and insects (A Watt, E Stork, M Hunter eds) Chapman and Hall, London.
- Klapwijk MJ, Björkman C (2018) Mixed forests to mitigate risk of insect outbreaks. Scand J For Res 33: 772–780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2018.1502805</u>.
- Kolb T, Keefover-Ring K, Burr SJ, Hofstetter R, Gaylord M, Raffa KF (2019) Drought-mediated changes in tree physiological processes weaken tree defenses to bark beetle attack. J. Chem Ecol 45: 888–900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-019-01105-0</u>.
- Kollberg I, Bylund H, Huitu O, Björkman C (2014) Regulation of forest defoliating insects through small mammal predation: reconsidering the mechanisms. Oecologia 176: 975–983. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-014-3080-x.

- Kosunen M, Kantola T, Starr M, Blomqvist M, Talvitie M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P (2017) Influence of soil and topography on defoliation intensity during an extended outbreak of the common pine sawfly (*Diprion pini* L.) IFOREST 10: 164–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor2069-009</u>.
- Kouki J, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Henttonen H, Niemelä P (1998) Cocoon predation on diprionid sawflies: the effect of forest fertility. Oecologia 116: 482–488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420050613</u>.
- Kozhoridze G, Korolyova N, Komarek J, Kloucek T, Moravec D, Simova P, Jakuš R (2024) Direct and mediated impacts of mixed forests on Norway spruce infestation by European bark beetle *Ips typographus*. For Ecol Manag 569: 122184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2024.122184.
- Kulakowski D (2016) Managing bark beetle outbreaks (*Ips typographus*, *Dendroctonus* spp.) in conservation areas in the 21st century. For Res Pap 77: 352–357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/frp-2016-0036</u>.
- Laasasenaho J (1982) Taper curve and volume functions for pine, spruce and birch. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 108.
- Langellotto GA, Denno RF (2004) Responses of invertebrate natural enemies to complexstructured habitats: a meta-analytical synthesis. Oecologia 139: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1497-3.
- Långström B, Annila E, Hellqvist C, Varama M, Niemelä P (2001) Tree mortality, needle biomass recovery and growth losses in Scots pine following defoliation by *Diprion pini* (L.) and subsequent attack by *Tomicus piniperda* (L.) Scand J For Res 16: 342–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580118325.
- Lausch A, Fahse L, Heurich M (2011) Factors affecting the spatio-temporal dispersion of *Ips typographus* (L.) in Bavarian Forest National Park: A long-term quantitative landscape-level analysis. For Ecol Manag 261, 233-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2010.10.012</u>.
- Lee KP, Simpson SJ, Wilson K (2008) Dietary protein-quality influences melanization and immune function in an insect. Func Ecol 22: 1052–1061. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01459.x</u>.
- Li F, Dudley TL, Chen B, Chang X, Liang L, Peng S (2016) Responses of tree and insect herbivores to elevated nitrogen inputs: A meta-analysis. Acta Oecol 77: 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2016.10.008.
- Lindstedt C, Suisto K, Mappes J (2020) Appearance before performance? Nutritional constraints on life-history traits, but not warning signal expression in aposematic moths. J Anim Ecol 89: 494–505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13103</u>.
- López-Andújar Fustel T, Öhman K, Klapwijk M, Nordkvist M, Sängstuvall L, Lämås T, Eggers J (2024) Impact of management strategies on forest susceptibility to spruce bark beetle

damage and potential trade-offs with timber production and biodiversity. For Ecol Manag 563: 121964. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2024.121964</u>.

- Lyytikäinen P (1994) Effects of natural and artificial defoliations on sawfly performance and foliar chemistry of Scots pine saplings. Ann zool Fennici 31: 307–318.
- Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P (1999) The responses of Scots pine, *Pinus sylvestris*, to natural and artificial defoliation stress. Ecol Appl 9: 469–474.
- Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Niemela P, Annila E (2006) Growth responses and mortality of scots pine (*pinus sylvestris* 1.) after a pine sawfly outbreak. IUFRO Kanazawa 2003 'Forest Insect Population Dynamics and Host Influences'. 81–85.
- Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Tomppo E (2002) Impact of sawfly defoliation on growth of Scots pine *Pinus sylvestris* (Pinaceae) and associated economic losses. Bull Entom Res 92: 137– 140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/ber2002154</u>.
- Marini L, Ayres MP, Jactel H (2022) Impact of stand and landscape management on forest pest damage. Ann Rev Entomol 67: 181–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-062321-065511</u>.
- Martin P-C, Angel L-LM, Armando E-M, Manuel C-AV, Tulio M-MJ (2013) Relationships between site factors and bark beetle attack on pine trees. J Biol Sci 13: 621–627. https://doi.org/10.3923/jbs.2013.621.627.
- Mattson Wi (1980) Herbivory in relation to plant nitrogen content. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 11: 119– 161.
- Mayfield AE, Allen DC, Briggs RD (2007) Site and stand conditions associated with pine false webworm populations and damage in mature eastern white pine plantations. North J Appl For 24: 168–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/njaf/24.3.168</u>.
- Mezei P, Grodzki W, Blaženec M, Škvarenina J, Brandýsová V, Jakuš R (2014) Host and site factors affecting tree mortality caused by the spruce bark beetle (*Ips typographus*) in mountainous conditions. For Ecol Manag 331: 196–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.07.031.
- Möller K, Hentschel R, Wenning A, Schröder J (2017) Improved outbreak prediction for common pine sawfly (*Diprion pini* L.) by analyzing floating 'climatic windows' as keys for changes in voltinism. Forests 8: 319. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f8090319</u>.
- Morris RF, Cheshire WF, Miller CA, Mott DG (1958) The numerical response of avian and mammalian predators during a gradation of the spruce budworm. Ecology 39: 487–494. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1931758</u>.
- Morse BW, Kulman HM (1986) A method of hazard-rating white spruce plantations for yellowheaded spruce sawfly defoliation. North J Appl For 3: 104–105. https://doi.org/10.1093/njaf/3.3.104.

- Näsi R, Honkavaara E, Blomqvist M, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Hakala T, Viljanen N, Kantola T, Holopainen M (2018) Remote sensing of bark beetle damage in urban forests at individual tree level using a novel hyperspectral camera from UAV and aircraft. Urban For Urban Green 30: 72–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.01.010</u>.
- Näsi R, Honkavaara E, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Blomqvist M, Litkey P, Hakala T, Viljanen N, Kantola T, Tanhuanpää T, Holopainen M (2015) Using UAV-based photogrammetry and hyperspectral imaging for mapping bark beetle damage at tree-level. Remote Sens 7: 15467–15493. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs71115467</u>.
- Näslund M (1937) Skogsförsöksanstaltens gallringsförsök i tallskog [Forest Research Intitute's thinning experiments in Scots pine forests]. Meddelanden Från Statens Skogsförsöksanstalt. 29.
- Netherer S, Nopp-Mayr U (2005) Predisposition assessment systems (PAS) as supportive tools in forest management - Rating of site and stand-related hazards of bark beetle infestation in the High Tatra Mountains as an example for system application and verification. For Ecol Manag 207: 99–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.10.020</u>.
- Netherer S, Schopf A (2010) Potential effects of climate change on insect herbivores in European forests General aspects and the pine processionary moth as specific example. For Ecol Manag 259: 831–838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.07.034</u>.
- Neuvonen S, Viiri H (2017) Changing climate and outbreaks of forest pest insects in a cold northern country, Finland. In The Interconnected Arctic—UArctic Congress 2016 (pp. 49-59). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-57532-2_5</u>.
- Nevalainen S, Sirkiä S, Peltoniemi M, Neuvonen S (2015) Vulnerability to pine sawfly damage decreases with site fertility but the opposite is true with *Scleroderris* canker damage; results from Finnish ICP Forests and NFI data. Ann For Sci 72: 909–917. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-014-0435-8.
- Niemelä P, Rousi M, Saarenmaa H (1987) Topographical delimitation of *Neodiprion sertifer* (Hym., Diprionidae) outbreaks on Scots pine in relation to needle quality. J App Entomol 103: 84–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.1987.tb00962.x</u>.
- Nordkvist M, Jonsson S, Jonsell M, Klapwijk MJ (2022) Effects of retained dead wood on predation pressure on herbivores in young pine forests. PLOS ONE 17: e0273741. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0273741.
- Nordkvist M, Klapwijk MJ, Barets S, Björkman C (2023) The relationship between moose browsing, habitat structure and predation pressure on insect herbivores. Basic Appl Ecol 66: 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2022.11.011</u>.
- Nordkvist M, Klapwijk MJ, Edenius Lars, Björkman C (2020) Interacting effects of insect and ungulate herbivory on Scots pine growth. Sci Rep 10: 22341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-79346-3</u>.

- Öhrn P, Långström B, Lindelöw Å, Björklund N (2014) Seasonal flight patterns of Ips typographus in southern Sweden and thermal sums required for emergence. Agric For Entomol 16: 147–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/afe.12044</u>.
- Olsson P-O, Kantola T, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Jönsson A, Eklundh L (2016) Development of a method for monitoring of insect induced forest defoliation limitation of MODIS data in Fennoscandian forest landscapes. Silva Fenn 50. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1495</u>.
- Orbtel R, Zedja J, Holisova V (1978) Impact of small rodent predation on an overcrowded population of Diprion pini during winter. Folia Zool 27: 97–110.
- Paljakka T, Rissanen K, Vanhatalo A, Salmon Y, Jyske T, Prisle NL, Linnakoski R, Lin JJ, Laakso T, Kasanen R, Bäck J, Hölttä T (2020) Is decreased xylem sap surface tension associated with embolism and loss of xylem hydraulic conductivity in pathogen-infected Norway spruce saplings? Front Plant Sci 11: 1090. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.01090</u>.
- Paritsis J, Veblen TT, Smith JM, Holz A (2011) Spatial prediction of caterpillar (Ormiscodes) defoliation in Patagonian Nothofagus forests. Landsc Ecol 26: 791–803. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-011-9608-0.
- Patacca M, Lindner M, Lucas-Borja ME, Cordonnier T, Fidej G, Gardiner B, Hauf Y, Jasinevičius G, Labonne S, Linkevičius E, Mahnken M, Milanovic S, Nabuurs G, Nagel TA, Nikinmaa L, Panyatov M, Bercak R, Seidl R, Ostrogović Sever MZ, Socha J, Thom D, Vuletic D, Zudin S, Schelhaas M (2023) Significant increase in natural disturbance impacts on European forests since 1950. Glob Change Biol 29: 1359–1376. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16531.
- Powell JM (1967) A study of habitat temperatures of the bark beetle *Dendroctonus ponderosae* hopkins in lodgepole pine. Agro meteorology 4: 189–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-1571(67)90003-9</u>.
- Pschorn-Walcher H (1987) Interspecific competition between the principal larval parasitoids of the pine sawfly, *Neodiprion sertifer* (Geoff.) (Hym.: Diprionidae) Oecologia 73: 621–625. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00379426</u>.
- Pulgarin Diaz JA, Melin M, Ylioja T, Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P, Peltola H, Tikkanen O-P (2024) Relationship between stand and landscape attributes and *Ips typographus* salvage loggings in Finland. Silva Fenn 58. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.23069</u>.
- Pureswaran DS, De Grandpré L, Paré D, Taylor A, Barrette M, Morin H, Régnière J, Kneeshaw DD (2015) Climate-induced changes in host tree–insect phenology may drive ecological state-shift in boreal forests. Ecology 96: 1480–1491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/13-2366.1</u>.
- Raffa KF, Gré Goire J-C, Staffan Lindgren B (2015) Chapter 1 Natural History and Ecology of Bark Beetles. In Bark Beetles 1–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-417156-5.00001-0</u>.

- Rainio H, Saarnisto M, Ekman I (1995) Younger Dryas end moraines in Finland and NW Russia. Quat Int 28: 179–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/1040-6182(95)00051-J</u>.
- Romashkin I, Neuvonen S, Tikkanen O (2020) Northward shift in temperature sum isoclines may favour *Ips typographus* outbreaks in European Russia. Agric For Entomol 22: 238–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/afe.12377</u>.
- Ryan MG, Sapes G, Sala A, Hood SM (2015) Tree physiology and bark beetles. New Phytol 205: 955–957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13256</u>.
- Salemaa M, Derome J, Nöjd P (2008) Response of boreal forest vegetation to the fertility status of the organic layer along a climatic gradient. Boreal Environ Res 13: 48–66. http://hdl.handle.net/10138/235262.
- Schlyter F, Byers JA, Löfqvist J (1987) Attraction to pheromone sources of different quantity, quality, and spacing: Density-regulation mechanisms in bark beetle *Ips typographus*. J Chem Ecol 13: 1503–1523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01012294</u>.
- Schroeder M, Kärvemo S (2022) Rekordstort utbrott av granbarkborre–orsaker och vad man kan göra. In Friska skogar så når vi dit. Kungl. skogs- och lantbruksakademiens tidskrift No. 7. 60. <u>https://www.ksla.se/pdf-meta/kslat-7-2022-friska-skogar-sa-nar-vi-dit hr/</u>
- Senf C, Pflugmacher D, Zhiqiang Y, Sebald J, Knorn J, Neumann M, Hostert P, Seidl R (2018) Canopy mortality has doubled in Europe's temperate forests over the last three decades. Nat Commun 9: 4978. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07539-6</u>.
- Simsek Z, Kondur Y (2017) Determination of the natural enemies of *Diprion pini* L. (Hymenoptera: Diprionidae) in Cankiri, Turkey. Fresenius Environ Bull 26: 6749–6759. <u>https://aperta.ulakbim.gov.tr/record/48091</u>.
- Speight M, Hunter M, Watt A (2008) Ecology of insects: concepts and applications. Blackwell Publishing, 2.
- Sproull GJ, Adamus M, Bukowski M, Krzyzanowski T, Szewczyk J, Statwick J, Szwagrzyk J (2015) Tree and stand-level patterns and predictors of Norway spruce mortality caused by bark beetle infestation in the Tatra Mountains. For Ecol Manag 354: 261–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.06.006.
- Staab M, Schuldt A (2020) The influence of tree diversity on natural enemies—a review of the "enemies" hypothesis in forests. Curr For Rep 6: 243–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-020-00123-6</u>.

Tamminen P, Starr M (1994) Bulk density of forested mineral soils. Silva Fenn 28: 53-60.

Terhonen E, Melin M (2023) Metsätuhot vuonna 2022.Luonnonvarakeskus. Helsinki, pp. 1–98.

Thom D, Seidl R (2016) Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity in temperate and boreal forests. Biol Rev 91: 760–781. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12193</u>.

- Tschudi S, Ivy-Ochs S, Schlüchter C, Kubik P, Rainio H (2000) Be dating of Younger Dryas Salpausselkä I formation in Finland. Boreas 29: 287–293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1502-3885.2000.tb01211.x</u>.
- Turchin P, Wood S, Ellner S, Kendall B, Murdoch W, Fischlin A, Casas J, McCauley E, Briggs C (2003) Dynamical effects of plant quality and parasitism on population cycles of larch budmoth. Ecology 84: 1207–1214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2003)084[1207:DEOPQA]2.0.CO;2</u>.
- Venäläinen A, Lehtonen I, Laapas M, Ruosteenoja K, Tikkanen OP, Viiri H, Ikonen VP, Peltola H (2020) Climate change induces multiple risks to boreal forests and forestry in Finland: A literature review. Glob Change Biol 26: 4178–4196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15183</u>.
- Vidal MC, Murphy SM (2018) Bottom-up vs. top-down effects on terrestrial insect herbivores: a meta-analysis. Ecol Lett 21: 138–150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12874</u>.
- Viitasaari M, Varama M (1987) Sawflies 4. Conifer sawflies (Diprionidae) English summary in Sahapistiäiset 4. Havupistiäiset (Diprinidae) Maatalous- ja metsäeläintieteen laitos, Julkaisuja 10. Helsingin yliopisto, 10th ed.
- Viro P (1951) Nutrient status and fertility of forest soil. I. Pine stands. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae. 39.
- Wermelinger B (2004) Ecology and management of the spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus* A review of recent research. For Ecol Manag 202: 67–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.07.018.
- Wermelinger B, Seifert M (1999) Temperature-dependent reproduction of the spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus*, and analysis of the potential population growth. Ecol Ent 24: 103–110. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2311.1999.00175.x.
- Weslien J (1992) Monitoring *Ips typographus* (L.) populations and forecasting damage. J App Entomol 114: 338–340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.1992.tb01136.x</u>.
- Weslien J, Öhrn P, Rosenberg O, Schroeder M (2024) Effects of sanitation logging in winter on the Eurasian spruce bark beetle and predatory long-legged flies. For Ecol Manag 554, 121665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2023.121665</u>.
- Worrel R (1983) Damage by the spruce bark beetle in South Norway 1970-80: a summary, and factors affecting its occurrence. Reports of the Norwegian Forest Research Institute. 38: 1–34.
- Ylioja T, Sutela S (eds) (2024) Metsätuhot vuonna 2023. Luonnonvara- ja Biotalouden tutkimus. Luonnonvarakeskus, Helsinki. p. 101.
- Zolubas P, Negron J, Munson S (2009) Baltic forestry modelling spruce bark beetle infestation probability. Baltic Forestry 15: 23–27.